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City and County of New York, Part II.
"
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nr

THE PEOPLE OJ THE STATE OP NEW YORK Before:-- . a.

''&&3

. . -- agalnst- 9o.MmB? :mm
4 J--

S
-

v - it j rst- - wcjji
E,HIf,ST- - .BoSdIN., andLa juryPiUii Jr$Fri

:?& vr- - $$
--- -x- --m --q,t (- -. & r, ---- in

New York, October 28th. '1914
"

Indlo tfcdiistr burglary ,1 the .third degree, grand Ifarfny

in the second- - degree and receiving,. ?t;$M&

W a

dictment filed September 19 th,, 1913.
f" ,
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For PeVpS GEORGE JteipGm, ESfe. ; Ae sWwtDi rftlcfSF
, MR&iiVJ IflM ''-V-

.n-.r. - - J- -' - T,
W;r5jJEt- - SBpW :S n!w.i.uv-- , ..;.

-
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For -- llJOHN' S. HEWITT, ESQ.

f
'.i-- ' ,--

Lsvduly .empaneled and swoin. r

qusge dalle opens to, the jury in behalf of tbBieople.
tT -- ?

'r- - 19 B'YAC'H A U M-- ii Bi, called as a witn ess in'"befealf of

the People,, b'ejLng first duly sworn, testifies as follows: -

t

DIRECT EXAMIHATION BY MR. KEDAEXE: '

, tWhat is your address? 131 West 133rd street.
Vhat is your business? A Footman ,and lookoutan for the

American Production Company.

here is that? A 236 Wet 42nd streat. i
Was sy$ur-employmen- t on -- the 6th of September,, of this

yar' A fJir.
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Did you lire on that day a 131' Wast 133rd street? A lisi('5Pjyi'r&.Tou occupleda flat in that building? A Yes. sir, ' ''?
Q And it is in the county of New York, A Yeo , sir.

Q On what floor is it? A Top floor,. rear, fifth.
Q On what- - side of tb building? A It is a long well,

' -- : .

i t la Mf Vnrlr 1 . In f.Vi horV tlia uVir1 o hnnV oTiortno

Q, The entire rear of that top floor is occupied by. yo u and'

your wife? A Yes, sir, and my sister-in-la- w at that time.

Q Your wife works, is that correct? A Yes, sir.
Q, And so does your sister-in-law- ?" A Yes. sir.

Q On the 6th of September when were yai last in the flat be- - $

fore anything happened? A At 1:45, that is my last appearance

there;- - I came in at quarter to twelve and weht out be tween

one and two. i ' . ,, .,, ,.Jt M

When you left did you lock the door? A I did, securely.

Q That is the door that leads from the public haU. into

your apartment? A Yes, sir, the top lm ding. ,

4 It opens off on' the top landing of the stairway? A Yes.

v, You locked it' with a key? With a yale lock and a plain

door lock that is on the door.

i What kind of ayale lock is that? Is it apart of the

door, or a padlock? A It is a 1 ck I bought and put on myself,

at Erank & Meyers.

Q Is it attached to the door by screw or by simple s? A i

tT-- i

screws, inside Bcrews. itut
f

Q When did you return to iv auartnt? A 5:30 in.tfre aftyur- -
4

neon. - . U .
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mmmmmmmisimma. xnenj you were toia something dy some or the witneaBaa,5
M1 .nluiflHI1 'Mil . '

IPA I was spoken to by Mr. Cunningham at tlfe house. MA '

Q And he told you something? A Yob, mr.
Q You left aertain wearing apparel and other wearing appar-- el JEWH

in your flat, didn't you? A yes, air,
Q Do you recall what -- they .were? A Yes, sir.

33S1K
Q Vbat were they? A I left four suits of clothes of my own,

six suits of clothes of my wife'B, two pair of shoes, four hats' --

i sbiS3Bfi '

and two caps and two raincoats and two rings -- a diamond
-- Haw

ring and a turqudize setting ring a ladies gold watch, a

Catholic rosary, ,24 inch gold chain with a solid gold cross --on

it,, silk handkerchiefs.

Q How many silk handkerchiefs did you leave there?- - A Well,

I had a dozen all told, but about half a dozen of them is gone,

I had half a dozen on top.

Do you recall what "the design of those handkerchiefs was?

A Well, I had half a dozen handkerchiefs made about 12 inches

square that I had made in Alperade , Mexico; they were de-- ..

k'HI H

signed by a -- woman who sits .on the street and makes' handke-

rchiefs.

Q I show you a silk handkerchief and- - ask you whether the half

dozen silk handkerchiefs that you purchased in New Mexico in

cluded this? A This is one; th only oneg this kind, that

has been brought out of this kind.

(Marked for identif icatUn People's Exhibit 1.)

At th.tiaa of the defendant' a arrast were you shown any'

' Iter'artuias? Only sa :una,-vu- t I ,--

aa not goaitive
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to". HEWITT": Objected to. No foundation laid; if'
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frla really two' nuestions aid he has not asked the firsts. Terns.
Bw

one.

THE OOURT:, Objection sustained.
BY THE COURT: fJfsaB:

Q Have you seen any of your property since that time? A No

sir, only my coat that I wear now, that the police officer

brought into the police station, and I went there .and iden-

tified it end the silk handkerchief and the pin.'

Q Was the defendant there? A The defendant was there when

I got it, but I would not' take the coat if he wanted, to tate

it to court, andhe said, "No ,. not necessary; only the', silk', --ki

handkerchief and the ladies gold pin. "

Q That was after his arrest? A' yes7, sir,
Q After his arrest you saw certain articles in the station

house? A I pointed it out in the station house,.

Q Where? A- - .In the station house, in the detective bureau,

and said, "That is ray handkerchief, because the end of it was EM
sticking out.
BY MR. MEDALIE:

Q Tell us about the coat that was given to you; when was

that given to you? A The coat was given to me when my wife

come home, about half past five or six in the evening, and we

went down to the police station; Mr. Cunningham-tol- d her the
tf

MpB

coat was thr and ghe went after it, and 1&ty would no t glv it
to bar. 3K

4 jj

,i m timmll t it fr k Um; X. Iwft V R. rieJ
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45M& '""any time? A Not as I recollect only .around there in thecrap
games in the street, as usual. '"Trail

Q, "Were you personally acquainted with him in any way? A 3Jl6v
f!Ts&maat:m' allBSeMV . VV

ig-- f shhpkk.
Q But you have seen him around the neighborhood in the Jr,f

"MS !lF&ffii9iK - . -- ,f,'Wfn"wJaflf

street? A Yes, sir,
'

.

k flow many, days after the 6th of September did you see him 11 '

again? A Not any. .
- :

Did you see him when he was arrested? A I did, on that

night;

Q, Which night was that? a On aturday night, 6th day of

September, between one and two o'clock, in .the dice game in

133rd street, between Lenox avenue and Fifth, avenue.

Q Was it then lie was arrested? A Yes., sir.
Q Who was with you that time? A Officer Turtayne and another

,. . ..-- ' 1

police officer. !';.;

Q Another detective? A Yes, sir. .':,.

w..' And it was then that you pointed him out to the police? .

A Yes, sir.
Q Upiin ;$iaf Cunningham told you? A Ho, sir; on Mr. Luther

Waithe's identification. We. first went down ijo Lenox avenue

and with me Luther went to identify the man that broke in my

iiouse. So I says to Luther, "Don1 1 mate any.raistake, because

J am geing on .your instructions, m4 if yeumake a mistake you'.'.. .'
'

. . . " '',' i

will get the both of us in bad." He Bald, "I wauld knew him if': '11

iff- - v Ari him in ana .hundred .en.M bjiw w me aic; -
.

.

-
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'
nim out; arid we walked past aed as we did I said, "We had rc

vyi. ."; '"'S-?- -

better go back to the corner , and as we turned I said, "Point

the fellow out again "j and he pointed out the sane young man
- M

When we got hack to Lenox avenue I said to him, "You sit on the
"

... '"''. '
steps here until I go artmnd to the police station and get a VJ

couple of .officers, because if I approach him now, I will get

what I am looking for, and a little' bit more." So we goes into

the police station an d I says to Officer Turtayne,'One of you

go to Fifth avenue and one go to Lenox, and stay clo se to me,

because when I get clo se enough to him I am go ing to' grab him ,

and hold him till you come do he won't get away. " So He comes

on down, and I goes to the dice game, and I called this young

man up, and I said "Do you know a woman around here, by the name

of Johnson?" He said, "No, what do you want?" I aid, "I am

looking for her, she is a personal friend of mine . I am out for

a little fun to-nig- ht-, and I wouldn't mind seeing her." At

that time the policeman was coming toward him, and before I

could complete my conversation, the officer grabbed him.

Q, Was it then thefy searched him? A No, not until in the

station house,

Q, Did they find various articles in his possession? A YeB,
H bP ;jH

sir; my silk handkerchief and the pin; but I didn't identify -- :$ s - -
t V ---

A

the pin, because so many are rnade alike.
-- '.. .''.''I Have you vr seen any pin like tfeat before.? t. so, only

those I kod. , '

' r i.v! guthqrize '. df$a4an$ .tip entity jut ajart-- ' $
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;Q Did you examine the look on that door? A Tee', air.
Q What did you find about it? A The lock was Jimmied, and

the whole panel of the door had been pushed off of the inside,

and the door lock, where it was unlocked dUi a long, skeleton

key, had been jimmied and it was impossible to use the key.

I had to take the lodk off and take i t to Frank & Meyers and

have the lock fixed sol could use the key in it.

OROSS EOMINATIOW BY MR. HEWITT:

Q, Xou picked out this defendant because Mr. Waithe said

this was the man? A I did. f" .u ' .

k You didn't know anything yourself personally about it?
4 Ho, I don't know him personally.

Q You do not claim any pins absolutely as your property?

I obn't say that they are.

Q You pin all your faith on this handkerchief i A 'Tha? is

mine .

K"ta --.H
JOSEPH A. CUN II INGHAM (131 West 133rd street)

called as a witness on behalf of the People, being first duly

ewom, testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMI1I ATIOIJ BY MR. MEDAUE:

Q Are you the Janitor of 131 West 133rd strata" J- - r,8ir.
Q What part of the building do you. live in? K In' tfc

basement.

Q Be youtoiow ajabody by tfes nrnm- - sf Bummatf- - fl 'f9, do.

s
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'"-'-. .;4t "'? 'rvi I
BWP5S',,'t "examine"examine thisthis witnesswitness (Haummel'(Haummel), and I would like to hac' ;g . . I

. him excluded from the room. i
- '

'.-asa-

ST

. -

(The witness Haummel excluded.)

Q Where' does Mrs. Dumraet live? A On t'he top floor east

front. . ' .
' "'

Q, Where does Haummel live? A Haummel lives on the top

floor rear.
Q At about four o'clock did you have any conversation with

Mrs. Dummet? A Yes, sir.
Q, Where was that? A That was in her apartment.

Q On the 6th of September? A Yes; in her dining room. .
--

, Cl Af ter.y ou had J3&i?conversatioh with her, didyou.go any-

where? A Yes, sir ?j&Srf-- '

Q Vhere? A We went out into the hall, and as we got out

into the hall
Q Who vra3 with? A

' Waithe. 11Q Luther .Wai the? A Yes.

Q Anybody else? A Luther Wai the and Mrs. Dummet and two

more of her lodgers.

Q, What did you see when you-go- t into the hall? A When we

got-- inTo the hall we seen this man -
--

'

Q The defenl-ant- ? A Yes. On the eye of closing the door

coming out of the apartment. ,
.

4 And you mean that space between that point over there ,

1

and this point here is the door pointing) and that the dooi
4 3SBm

ope&e from this side, will you please indicate to the Jury fthc
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RJ IBMv eMnMBMrs&BPmWV&WWmyWts,StfW 4 tr '"rl-- t ! fendant when wo JnECl rst ;a aw shim?WA Thedoor

- j W ,w
m

T V" X ' " " ' , 1 ? trwf'
KHR7f cttdaes from this side (indicating) -

Q, The hinges are over here (indicating)? A The hinges

are on the "east side of the door.

Q Will you state to the jury what you saw him doing? A As

I came out of the hall, out of the pri.vate hall and entered into""

the public hall, I seen this man with the cap in hi a hand clos-- --
'

ing the door, coming out of the apartment.

'l Did you see in the apartment? A Ho, sir. -

Q Or partly in the apartment? A No, sir.
Q 'In the private hall of the apartment? A Ho, sir.

1
Q Just indicate where his. arm was, his right arm, as yeti

are pointing it now? A He had his hand on the knot.

Q Aid the door was partly op en, at that time? A Bpxtly open

and partly closed.

Q And his arm Was inside the apartment? A Yes.

Q And then what did you do? A I asked him then, I said,

"What do y.bu want here?" I said, "Who do you want to see?" He

H'.fc H

says, "Well, I want to see Mrs. Haummel", so I says, "Why, Mrs.

Haummel is not at home." So he says, "Well, I am waiting here

to see Mrs. Haummel." I says, "Well, where 1b Mrs. Haummel at?"

He says, "Mrs. Haummel is around at the "butcher shop." So- - I

' says, "What iB the apartment door doing open?" 'He said, "I am

Mr. Haummel's cousin." I said, "Wall," that i s mighty funny

for Mrs, Haummel to give you harlcty, to give you permission

,fc t walfc here for hor and she idarouid at the "butcher shop. "

. I said, "What is the apartment door doing open?" So ha says, -



waiting Were on her because she is ay couslaVH -K4. .?

pTaaid, "Well, who is In the apartment?", and he says, "There' i
nobody." .1 said, "Let e go in there." He said, 'Wo, you i i

cannot go into the apartment." So then I says, "Why not?"

Hensays, "Well, because youcamot;" and the moment that I
y

made that remark I put my hand on the knob to go into the apart-

ment

,"-3-
S!

f'l'

m

to see what was in there, and he started to chase dowi

tie stairway.

Does the door of. that apartment open right on the landing &

c f the stairway? A Yes.

Did-yo- u run after him? A Yes.

Vere you able to catch him? 'No. ,

1 Had you ever seen him in the Neighborhood before? A Never

seen him before.
Q This was daylight when this happened? A Yes. .

Q And you spoke to him for a minute or two? A Yes.

( looking at him all the time? A Yes.

J Is there any doubt no .v in your" mind that he is the man

ho broke out of that apartment? A No doubt at all.
Where did you see hira run? A He ran down the stairway,

and from there he ran east' on 133rd street, aid he stopped in

a saloon which-ji-si between Fifth sbd Lenox avenue.
I

L &iat saloon is that? A I don't know thfi name of the

saloon.
aS

;Is that Snyder1 s-saloo- n? A ?e, I think that was tja asms

O Did van n nv anvthlrtr?- - mora to hlM? A No . I did n. i
1 "liR

Sid an officer go in aftr kitf1 Xss..
HhOTJ i gt J&
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mm m Jeer "come1 Wtfct anything? A '.He ome'mt
- --y .

with a coat.

Q Is that the coat which the complaining witness is wearing

now? A I couldn't eaywhether that 1 s the coat he is wearing

now, or not; but he has his Initials into it. ,,MS
S ",". .-'.S- fei

The coat was returned by "the officer to the complaining :hiJ
'K

witness? A By the officer, yes.

GROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. HE WITT: ftmpm

v You chased h.im down the stairsand over towards lenox

avenue? A Yes, sir.' '.'.-- . ,'.' s3''''... ?3m
'A, And coming --daw the stairs you made wuite a racket? ,

A Yes. ''.. .
'

. ;

Q, And you had never seen him before in your life? A Wo.

"LUTHER W A I T. H E
. called as a witness In behalf of

the People, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows:

DIREOT EXAMINATION' BY MR. MEDALIE:

Q Do you live 'it 131 West 133rd street? A Yes, sir.
Q With Mrs. Dummet? A "Yes, sir.

Q On the top floor? A Top floor.
Q Do yo u remember the 6th of September at about .4 or 5.

o'clock In the afternoon? A Between three and four.
Q Did you go anywhere from Mrs ..Dummet' s apartment? A Ko ,

.ir, i di d nut.,
'

- 'jlf

Did v v anywhere withHrB. Cuminet? A , sir.
Intc ihi hall? .".- - Ob, ,ys,,, 6jr in the hall.

'

'
. - r

.i v r ' x
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Q prom where did you aee; that? A In tne hallway--. : gg

BY T AS COURT.:

Q The same floor or the floor above? A On the same floor,.,,

I was.on the same floor.
Q, tfhat did,you see? A Well, I saw a young man very blisily

wp ,;engaged.

BY MR. MEDALIE: .

Q Whom did you go with?

BY THE COURT:

'4 Who was with you in the hall? A 1 was by myself at ha;t '

time . ' '..'; t ....

BY MR. MBDALI:

Q First you were "by yourself? A Yes, sir.
Q, Who did you see? A I saw a young man very busily, engaged

in Haummel' s fl-at- .

Q Was the door open? A No, sir, it was hot pen at the

time it was closed.

q How were you able to see tlmt? A Well, the door is
.

.
... j

.

situated in such a way lts a glass door, do you can see

right through. ; v
i

1 Bl imm4HP1

Q The door has a lass panel? A Yes.

,y You qo id at: - rough the glass panel into tfee apartment?

a Ye a sir .
' ''

.

A:- -

Thorn ai.d .. j' ste . I. a
'

5wnf fp..ow, 4fet w ywma

r- - : U fcAw UudiouUnfc 4IMtaajtt .. y ,;,f;,f;.'lV.
A&

JWr'Hi
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What was he doing? A He was v.ery busily engaged in getting, vj mj
'

,rc
SAH

J
fo 11some- - things out of the apartment. I I

Q, Vhat was he getting out? What was he handling? Clothing?

A Well, I don't know all right what things they ware, I .didn't v?
i

see the things. ' " - ''&

Q W3H, he was handling something? A Yes, sir, and I went

into my apartment end to 'ny assistance I' had the janitor come up,

Q You telephoned down through the tube? A Yes, sir,
Q And you spoke to Qunningham, the janitor? A Yes, sir, aid

then he c m e up in about five minutes time. fcj

Q Did you and the janitor go anywhere? A Myself and the ,

janitor, we went off into the hallway, and by -- thetim we got

in the hallway we saw that young men coming out.

Q How was he coming out? A He was coming out with a bundle

under his arm fi-rst- , and then as he saw us he put the bundle

down behind the door and slammed the door and came out.

Q Did you see him shut tbe door? A Yes, sir.
Q Did yju see him partly in the apartment at that time?

TOA Yes, v sir.
Mfe

Q What conversation followed? A Mr. Cunningham, the janitor

inquired of him what washis mission in there.
MR. dKWITT: Objected to.
THE lOUPT:" It is conversation with the defendant."&&

14
' w. aErT: Objection ifhdrawn. '

(Witness continuing) e said rfrs'. Hauml was Hit mxmt
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P. j i-cfc- KjSJeJt-. TJshSSH' WIT r ar-- y
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BSSp V etfHBXT.tt-fane,:enti;'aW6uffd:t- o She butcher- - stojre and left )o- -

.i -

nhim to tie charge of It till-- a ho returned. Well, Mr. Cunningham
k x itHfct first believed it and then he took a second thought and he

, said he has to go in the apartment. The yowgi fellow informed. .

. j him he hasn't any "business in the apartment". Hiah Cunningham

started to open the door and fce found it was broke open by a kind'

of a jimmy.

Q Did you see any marks on the door near the lock? A Yes, m
sir, the door was - the woodwork was busted- - or broken awayv

Q What aid the defendant do when you people started t--
0 go

Pi .

into the flat? A Well, he started in and ran himself do wn the "'ypf
-

stairs--- - he ran down the -- stairs.
Q Who ran after him?. A: Cunningham.

.
Q Did you run along too? A I ran only one flight of the

very top, and I turned and went back into ,my apartment and I

stood and seen he went right across to tha other side, of the

street.
Q, Your apartment opened out on the street? A Yes, sir.

Q And you could see the defendant crossing the street?
:--

. Yes, s ir.
Q Do you know where he went? A Well, he want into one of

the saloons. '". "

Q, Do you know which aloon it was? A I eifi'tijtiiiber
. tha name of the p3oon.

vQ Were you abl f o sea him antar tht saloon? A Yes, air

s It Snydtr' amloen?' A Snydar's.



B;:: $ On which street?- - A' I think the number was 47 or .49 , bTn, v 3kj ,1
133rd street . , -- BL

Between Fifth and Lenox avenues? A Ye-s- , sir.
, You saw him run into the saloon? A Yes, sir.

.4 .

4 Di-- d you see any policemen run after him? A Weia the

policeman ran, 'Jbut he could not get in at thetime.
v--

y

.. :' .

'

'l Had ou seen the defendant bef ore? A No, sir, never,

Q, Did you have a good look at him on this particular day?,

. A Tea, sir, I did. r

Q Did you see hhj later, "before he was arrested?. A $o, siry' ."'y. t$
iff.

"

. '' v: ' ,'

I di d not. ...
Q Did you describe the defendant to; anybody? A Yes, I m

described him to the owner of the apartment.

Q To Haummel? A To Mr. Haummel, yes, sir.
Q And then when the defendant was arrested di d you see him?

A Yes, sir, I was along.

r; Did 'you identify him as the person who was In that flat?.
F"JA 1 did, yes. .

(I You were no t present when he was arrested? A Who?

.' .

'
&

'

:

Q The defendant i A Yes, &ir, I was present.

Q Did you see anything taken from him? A Well, they took
1r

hiitJto tfc 37th Preoinot rvd I4saw a handkerahiif .
,,

0" Waa it e, eiik hendkarbhief? A Yes, eir.
- Did tiafc -- i.ioe t&t it from hi? A Tee, ii'r.

iii
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ficatioh? A Thai Is the veryvery one, "! 'fR
t

BY THE TENTH JUROR:
- a

1

i Did you Bee inside the flat? Could you see -- him Inside ,
.!.:rt

A

i...4..wj-- -
VTrfA'

the room? A Yes, sir, I could see him right through the glass
- 34

Q Inside the room? InBide the -- apartraen't, yes.
y

BY MR . MEDALIE: ' ! &&

vi waax icintt oi glasa is It on the panel of the door? ' A This

is a kind of a lightish dark lightish green.

Q A light green glass? A Yes, sir.
$ Did you get a ood look at the defendant when he passed

i

or came out? A I haa the better choice when he was outside,
because the janitor was speaking to him a little while ofrt-si- de

in conversation and I was standing the-re- .

Q But you at least saw him moving around in the flat when

you looked through that glass panel? A Yes, sir.

CROSS itXAMI- - ATI UN BY MR. HEWITT:

This lad yi - saw at the door, had you evar seen him

before the 6th of September? A No, sir, never. '

'i R. A C B d AdMMEX, (131 West 133rd street) cd-le-
d as a

witness in bekalf of the. People, being first duly sworn, tes-

tifies
" fi" JV --- Vas follows: .

DIRECT EXAMINATION r . -- EDALIE:

w You are thfc ;f. i rtnry Haummel? ms , Jir. "Tfifc

You n ...ftfe , ,. top flgr Fr f )'A1$ $k Wrd "". 'jP
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k

fP?7' : 'v.frltdW fcim tfcfere- - ;6n: the 6th or' September? A?'3 3

V;

) I
Te8, sir. . i

Jv,

Q Do you know the defendant? A No, sir.
"3N
cg

Q Is he your, cousin? A No i sir.
-

it-
Q Did you ever meet him in a "butcher shop? k No, sir. .!

1;
.1'jvyy!

i Did you ever til him to go up to your flat and wait there.'.

for you? A No, sir.
Q Prior to his arrest had you ever seen him?" ' & I-ha- d never

seen him that I know of. .

Q On the day of this burglary September the 6th," wWat were,

you. doing? A What work?

'
Q For whom were you working? A Is it necessary I. should

call the lady.1 s name?

Q Yes', the address? 'A Mrs. Pierce.

.Q'. --There is that? A 50 West 51st street.
Q hat hours were you working out? A From nine in the

... t

morning until eleven at nSght.- - --.- .

Q, 'fere yo-- j .. orking at that time? A I was. '
.

Q, When did'you return home that evening? A Six that even-

ing, because I was telephoned to.
'.'

mH. BEWITT: No cross' examination.

J o H N .. 3 T f I N (Detective Bureau, 37th J?raoinct)

called a& --

. itnese : oe.tcalf of the People, be ing first duly

sworh, testifies as follows:
' '

1 JUlllsflBi

0IBBOT JKUMIIIATIOS'-B- Y itf. aUBDALIE:

v v1 ftii ;o,j arrest t.;n: defendant? 4:,; --,
. 3 ir
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fnwiienjipio.unef;atimVf on September vth ox this yeari;,-- .
. )o;

Q, flldyou aearch him after you arrested him? A Ho , he.f

was searched by my partner,, petective Turtayne, In my presence. t

."V Q Do you recall seeing People's Exhibit 1 for IdentJLf ioa-ti-on

taken from his person? A Yes, sir.
. Q Where did you find that? A Petective Turtayne took this

out o a top pocket of his coat.
Q What, if anything did the defendant say at that time?

A I asked him where he got the handkerchief from, and he said

"That "belongs to ma," I said to him, "VShere were you yester- -

day afternoon?", and he said,- - "I. was home with my. titter, minding -- ;

a b.aby.'f-- I said, "Were you out at any time during fche aftern-

oon?" , He 'said,' "Yes , I went out and go t a can of milk; that

is the only time I was out during Saturday afternoon."

Q "Ib'at- - was the name of the Officer who pursued the. person

who committed the burglary? A I believe his naie waa John E;

- Braughn.

Q, fie" ib not here at this moment? A Ho, s ij? . ::

Q Does he belonp to your precinct? A I thlai he is at- - .

t ached to the 171st; he was attached to the Lenox avenue at a--

tion on that day.

MR. MEDAIIE: I offer the handkerchief , People' s Exhibit

I, for identification, in evidence.

(No objection.) .

(Received la tyidence,-- and marked People's iwhibis 1. )

' 1$, HIVIff I I cress examination, . .

, ..aB
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IgR5i MEDALIE: . Subject,, iioifith.eiproduotMbWOfiflcer
HHEfiML A.9FlESi.) " ' "" '

' T3Mighn,( assuming that a defense is put in, the People --

'

!--
rest,

MYRTLE WI LS 0 N (131 West 131st street), called
as a Witness on behalf of defendant, being first duly sworn,

testifies as follows: t
T

Hb
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR . HEWITT:

Q Are you employed in an employment agency at 133 West

133rd street? A I am.
f

i

Q, Wiatis the name of your employer? A Mrs. A. 0. Furbert.
Q, Were you on the premises 133 West (131) 133rd traet on,'

the afternoon of cjept ember 6th, 1913? A I was.- -

Q Do you recall any racket, any unusual racket In the houBe

on that afternoon? A I do .

Q When you heard this racket', what did you do? I was

in the office at the time when Ic ame to the door to see what

was the trouble.
Q And what did you see? A I saw a man running down the

hall.
Q Was there, anybody running after him? .' Ye.

-- I Who? A The janitor.
Q Vhat is his name? A Mr. Cunningham.

Q Did you see the man that Mr. Cunningham was abasing? A I

did. J.

Q Take a good look at this man (indicating tie daadant); - ffllB
r --r. j

( is this .the man? A 3-- t 1 8 not. ' t " -
; &1i - Asfc.
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V - rHMl tlitur.fpfepb. yo U'tao w .Ahis- - ia'an (indie attng.'TWf en dant )?'. A I do','w , . . --

t, M$.

Q. What is hi 8 name? A Ernest. Boldin.
Q Had you known him before the 6th of September? A Yes,

Nils.'
. Q How had yu come to know him? A Why, he' cane to the

;0 office where I worked,, applying for a position..'... -

Q To theemployment agency? A 'Yes-- , to' the employment agency;
" f'H

CROSS EXAMIHATIOK BY MB. MEDALIE:

Q How long have you worked inthat employment atrency?

A Since the first of April.
rfp

, Q When did this defendant apply for a p alt ion?
'

Oh,

at different times.
Q How many different times? A I- - can't say exactly how many

times he was in the office.
Q en did he last come to your place ai d agply for a poai-tio- n?

A- - August.
'

Q How long before he was arrested? A Oh; . j.ui'tf? .a while.
Q Two weeks? k Oh, longer.

Q, Three weeks? A About that.
Q, Vhen before that did he come and apply for a position?

-
' - ::"jv ..:'' -- . .

.

A Oh, I couldn't say exactly the time. "

0, Vn, you said he came several times befwrtj? A Tea.
ii

JQ Will, yuu be kind enough to tell me oa which other occa-

sions he cane? A Why, it was about the 1st of August he came

in to apply for a position. I had nothing- - goe4 at tkat time,;
','

and he came several times afterwards to, if I ki lay fce

Uit hi. .. la.y". ' iTM
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apply for a position?,. A No, it was not.
Q whatas the first time he cane In? A I don t know. I

am not the anl one in the office.' arid I saw him in the office..'' ','. "
-- i .'.'

.during that time that I "was working there.
Q, Do yo-- u know Mm by; the first nane? A H6-- , -- nut. to. speak

-- ' fr
to on the street. "CtSsHb? . -

w, You just said you saw Ernest in th office at that time?

A Where?

l How do .you know him by his first name? A I knew his full
name ani address. S8H

You don't knowwhen he first came? A Hot the exact date.
Q. It might have been a year ago , for all vo.u .know?' A. No;

I -- have not been in the office that longl ..'

Q. Did he apply to you the first time, he same? A Ho.

V. 'What did he say to you when he spxika-t- o y qw about a position?

A. He came in an d asked me did I have any elevator- - positions in.

and I said no; I said, "Come back, again to-morr- ow, and I

will see what I lave."

Q, You had -- a name and address, is that right? A- - Why, any

one comes to ask for a pod tion, I take their name and address:.'
there then.

T eiHBV
c hat dv ; u do with it? A Record it i n books.

What bok? Way-- , a book that ws ' w. f c r the inspector1.

The employment -- ifios are regulated by law, and e hve to .--

7

ert it ih the b uke.
7

.-- fr. 11 i ' im.. igffB
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ft Do you record it under the day wheri n;e cornea? A XeaV-- fCTv
vyv-- . . . :" 4

fr.
$ Has that book got stubs? A Stubs?

y i
W ! Q, What kind of a book is it? A It is simply a blank book

'-- that we have to put nones in.
Q Do you put the nameB -- in in their order0 . vea.

Q, One after the other? A Yes, '"S

Q Did youput his name in? A II did.
:r?4

'c How often did you write his name in? A Once. ,

Did yo u put his name in the proper place? A I did.
mm

Q 'About when di d y uu write his name in? A At the same time

he came in and asked me fo r a position
r 1

Q That is the only time you wrote his name? A Yes.

Q Ho other time? No other time,

Q This ui.r. Furbert, he runs the employment agency which you

wrote the name in? A I don't know. I wrote it once only.

Q At whose direction? A Mrs. Furbert.

Q 9ie told outo write it in? A No. My instructions are

as every one comes in sn d applies for a position to ask the

nam and address aid recordit then and there.
i

4 Tnat ia what youdid With him? A I did that with him.

Q when did you first talk to anybody about this case? A Oh,

' away abput three weeks ago his sister came t our house to get

a position for his sister, and sJtfS spoke of it then, and I

spoke about the noise, and what I heard and rtaat I saw, and jggm

that was 11. It a iply a tfccidant that she co and was
,

iiiaMpeaking vt ' J9Hb t - '

Jfrs



a ever spdke toMr'. JT.UEbi
, ' u

IVho rah out Into the hall? A I don't know who the mk
was? A I don't know.

Q Did ycu run out Into the hall to- - aee i?hat was going on?

A No, I stood right in the door.

$ Well, who else, stood in the' door? A girl with me.

9. who was the airl? A Ida Bourne
I

J
W, Anybody else9 A Several people.

'4, Who stood in the door with you? A Ida was right with me;

I don't know the others. It is an. apartment house'; there are

several families besides ourselves in the house.

Q Waq that the entrance to the building in which you were

standing? A It was the entrance to the building in which I
, was standing.

4 The only jther person whom you knew who stood in the en-

trance of the building with you was this girl? A Was this

V Noia;, lae that you know? A Hotaody else that I know.

Q That y uu are certain about? A That I am certain about.

(I And both the janitor and this man who wad running rushed

right by quickly? A Yes, they did.

Vt y fast9 They were both running.
1

Hfi-DiBK- OT EXAkiNATL j hY MR, HEWITT: J

Wiat i b t at irl's rnfi? A Ida Be jre.
v - '-MS-

A

..fiM.fc.
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r UIHOr Hlfo ' U" k fl is 131 West 133rd street) called 'ii & vW'HlHI

.

, J5BSBt I
katuni

!

witness In bealf of the defendant, being first duly"8wornflrce8$3 fillllf! mmjr

-- f . t

tif lea as follows:

EXAMINATION BY MR. HEWITT:

Q Were you at 131 West 133rd street on the afternoon of, V4S HS

September 6th, 1913? A Yes. JllSMi

Q Did anything unusual occur there that afternoon? A Yes. '

Q Did you hear a racket of any kind? A Yes.
PwHsHr

. Q Did anything unusual occur? A Yes.

Q Wiat was it? A It was a racket coming down the stairs.
VOBH

Q What did you do when you heard the racket? A I was stand-- , "i

ing at the door.

Q Was any one standing in the door vith you? A Yds.

Q Who was it? A Ano'ther girl.
Q Do you know her name? A Yes.

1 What is it? A Myrtle Wilson.

Q, at did you see vhen you were standing in the door? A I

saw a tall man" run out; a tall,t dark man, very stout S ' HrsQ, Was anybody chasing him? A Yes.

Q Who was chasing him? A The superintendent.

W His name? Mr. Cunningham.

Q, Take a good look at this man (indicating defendant)

A That was not tiie man.

v Have you a distinct recollection f the nan tht was being
1

gfcased? A Yes.
, A

Hon .didfcie complexion compare wita fclw rt indicating

mtwmimtf -- . .' J ' , lights r taftftr' ' , ry
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."3V. 1. yi- - tt, 1 fi r ,' m
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, MEDALIE: '

: ) i

Q Do you work in the employment agency too'' & I live -- there,

Q Do you know Mr. Eurbert? A Yes,
4Jr

Q. Do you know defendant, this young man here ('indicatingr-!-iti

"o
-- , defendant)? A No, I didn't know him before.

' Q The man who ran by ran by very fast, didn't he? A No , not;
?fl

so fast.
Q Not very fast? No.

Q- - 'Ifl anybody says nc did run faat that person is mistaken?

A Yes.

Q What? A He didn't run very fast.
0, Well, about how fast di d he run? Just at a little

trot? A No, not a trot.
Q Well, just slow enough so you could take a very good look

at him? A Yes.

Q Did --the janitor run not very fast? A No , he was not

running fast.
Q, The janitor was not running fast either? A No.

Q When they were first coming through the hall, they were

not coming very fast? A No. "
.

Q No, rut --:ey -- lade an awful racket? A Yeg, coming down

the stairs.
4 And costing Tnrcuh the hall they did not ftjtfca much of a

racks t? A Ho.

' Q fsr alewad m-- mmtam tJarough tbs fceU,? A Y. jHH

. 1 - ..iiiJ1 elWB
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S1rtUcod0oc tatSa1frS' !','.' T v man? A Ye 8.
r

Q T "know that he is a tall, very dar man? A Tall, very

dark, stout.

ti Stout too? A Yes ;"

Ci Tall, stout and very dark?. A Yes. .5 i f..
"

', " .
.

Q And the' janitor could not catch him? A Ho.

Q Although the janitor is not quite, tall, and is thin? A j-- m

' '
- -- ;Q3-- s":i..--

.

Yes.
'

3

Q- - And though this man was not running fast the janitor could

not catch him? A No.
v U

Q You are sure of all' that , aren't you? ,A Yes.
':-M-

'

Q Who first spoke to ya. about this case? A The lawyer.

Q JDid anybody speak to you abou--t the case before the lawyer .

did? A Well," we talked about it at the-house- .

Q Did you speak to any member of the defendant s family
t ' ......

about it? A, No. i''' --

-' .r .;
Q, Nobody spoke to you about it? A No.

Q Did Furbert speak to you about it? A Yes, Mr.' Furbert.
Q When di d Furbert first speak to you about it -- -- h'ow soon

after this happened? A About a week after.
W

Q How, what did he say to you? A He asked nm if I was the
'M2S5JB

man
-- J:1-:

Q And nat did you say? A I said yete.:t
- nil

Q What did he say to you? A What who said t me?.."-'- . ;.

V What 4idJurbrt nay to y$u? A H asked m' Aid I know
mm-- : :

'..

.
--

K. I--"-
:

''
:- --:

' '" - '
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Q Did he ask you whether you saw the man who was arrested?

A No.

Q That he did not ask you? A I did not see him.
:"Mnirfc?Ji3niisBs

n A,l .aM ,,. "l3 Vit Vi mo nll A bkV --Po.tmom. ci& xuiu oix ucj. jr -- ' uwjlu, J.U.U uuau xw n a.o a, uaxx ucuaj jl a-iuat-
ii)

??h&' was not running very fast - A Yes.

Q, (Continuing He went away, is that right? He did what?

Q, He di d notask you any more questions? A No.

Q, You are sure ne was tall and dark and fat? A Sure he was
T

tall, very dark, very stout.
VS.

,Q Very stout? A Yes.
: 1

Q How old a man was he? A He was pretty old; he was not a a- - ,

boy.

Q Did Myrtle Wilson talk to you about this case? A Yes.

Q When did you talk to Myrtle Wilson about this case? A The

next week.

Q Didn't you hear in the meantime that a man had been ar-

rested in connection with that crime? A Yes, I did hear it.
Q And didn't you say anything --to anybody about the wrong man

being arrested? A No.

Q, This defendant is not tali, is he? He is not aa tall as

th othsr man?, A lo, hii not.

, And h ortinly is not as dark, is? A Mo.

.- - And a i i :t r.HM-a-
y as stout as ths ethsrtan? A No.
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Q Didn't It seem strange to you that they should arrest "1

wrong man? A Wall, it did.
Q, Well, did you tell' the janitor, "Now, you arrested the'"'"'. ''''.'. '''. ';

.-
-.'

I: '

wrong man, Cunningham. ."? A I didn't tak to the janitor.
''--

iB

' "

Q You know the Janitor, do you? A Yes, sir.
--

'';

Q You live in that house? A Yes.

$ Did yen tell luther Waithe that he arrested the wrong
" 'rfPit" .

man- - who lives' on the top' floor? A No, he. never talked to.

me.. '';:'''' ,

Q Well', 'you kn-- o Lil the r waithe? A No.

4i What? A No.

Q Did yo u know that the janitor and luther Waithe were the

main witnesses against this defendant? A I know the janitor.
Q. Why didn't you tell the janitor that he had t ha wrong man

arrested? A Well, he iever asked- - me nothing about it.
Q Weren't you sorry for the defendant when tHey arrested

him when somebody else committed the crime? A Yes, I was.

Q Why didn't you go and tell the janitor that he made -- a

seripus mistake? A He never talked to me about it.
Q' Vfere you waiting for him to talk to you? A Yes, sir.

I?- -

Q And you have not spoken to him about that since th be-

ginning of th-i-e ease? A No.
--ipl

Nqvt told hijm oae that he made a mistake? A .

Q Not unfit 1 tUa mm J'urbert spok to you about it, is t mtr . :;tfa

rlit? A Y8j ir. '. ' "''.'..'.
'''-.--

, ., --
.

--
. t 3b
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Q - tt waa not until tfurbert spoke to you that you bounce put
,--

..

W aVthati a
"

soriousj niataka had been made, is that right? A Tos.

REGINALD J. E 0 R B E R T (131 West 131st street) oall(e
it fm w- - 4 m

Mflas awitness in, behalf of defendant, being first duly sworn, 'fee's,;,
i

tifies as follows i '.lJL'$

''IBDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR . HEWITT:

Q You are the husband of Mr.s. Eurbert, who1 owns the employ-

ment
"; . IBfl i

agency at 133 West 133rd street? A -- Correct.

Q Were you at that house on the 6th, of September, 1913? 4,

I was. .

Q, And did you at that time see a man run out of that houf
t

chased by another man? A I did.

Q Tell to this jury the circumstances that brought you to "m

the particular time

.'BY THE COURT:

Q What time was it? A What date?

Q What time 6f the day? A Oh, around about 4 o'clock, maybe;

I cannot say, but around about 4, maybe a little after.
Q- - Yhat were you doing there at that time? A W weri doing.

something to a car which stood before th-4aous- e.

. Q What do you mean by a car? A An automobil.
t

Q Who sef automobile is it? A Mine.
-- ! v

Q Who was the other man? A My chauffeur.

What is his aae? A . George Cardies.

Q Tell the' jury what you saw and how your attention was

4i$a?9tedf A Wail a littraxcltement seemed to arouse us by- -



rarel ica
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one man ;omi; th
r

,Q tJse the pronoun "I",, not "we"? A I saw a man chased by

another, chased by another; tho f,irst man with.no coat on i" it3;
an

t" him, coming out of the door and run toward Lexington avenue, 9'

and about a few seconds after, or a minute,, or thereabouts, I
don't think quite minute, though, he was followed by Mr.

3unninghsra who was Uic janitor-o-f the building there.
'i Was Cunningham chasing the first man? A He was.

ai
Q, Did you observe the first man? A I did
Q Look at him (indicating defendant); is he the one? A No,

r

that man, sir. !

GROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MEtfALIE:

Q Will you be kind enough to describe the first man?"

A Describe the ajpearance of the first man?

Q Yes. A He was a man of much darker complexion tha'n his
man; heavier built man 'a little stouter, I suppose about -

oh, as near as I can judge --- -I didn't take great notice
about-betwee- n five feet seven and a half or five feet light, 55
or something like that, thereabouts.

Q Was he a very- - tall man? A No

l 'Just an ordinary sized man? A An ordinary sized man.

d Not very stout? . A Not vary stout, not positively stout.

0, lie was a man inclined toL bt stout? A Inclined to ta stout
-- fcfcll

"SsB
Q But not vory taH? A .'Not vsry tall. 'IB'

'

k'
, Q

' Vat very stout A Not vsry stout.
f



JM" - .'TViVW
tv 'agP&ft ' Was he .runniUgMTowrvIaat? h;hfhewa?unnlngapiiB3m'

K.

fast.
r--i

Q Very f ast? A Quite fast.
Q About as fast as you would expect a man to run,. when

. '"4

41i
somebody was pursuing him?. A Indeed. - T

Q Nothing slow about his gait, was there? A If. ?

.?.
,

Q, About as fast hs you ever saw a men run? A
' I couldn't say. ':

...
I have seen some men run pretty fast..

Q But for an ordinary man he was oing pretty fast? A -- Ke wa-

shing pretty fast.
Wow, you got a good look at aim in spite of that? A WeUL

now, I got look enough to be able to give the description that

j. jusx now gave. . . ;,f.
Q, You don't think you are mistaken about that? k I don't

think I am mistaken. ''..'.
Q You are pretty sure? A If I were not I would not be

here

Q You would back that up against anything el se-.tHa- t anyba ay--

else says on that subject? A I' do. ra
Q And if anybody thus says to the contrary that person is

mistaken? A Yes.

Q And you say that under all the solemnity of an oath,,

don't you? A I d.
BY THE CQDRT:

.

'

Q Wien didyulisarthat tb d,f tadant was aestecL? A I

Cidn'taear tht for about two w3cs fter. 'm
A1 '
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an t"at all tha tlme,
!9:t

) I

Q How do you know was no man that ran 01 ? A Well,.

T Jl JL--li. - AU- -i i--- - JJ --fl i '
T J .. J- - I .i. I-- X1 A. &x uxui u cb-- una o uji c ueitxi ueuiw wao - x uaun i nvtxr iiia.w

. . ''".. ''''.
the man that ran out .-

---. I a imply heard that a man by the name'

of Erne at Boldln was arrested. ,--
.

$ Do you know him? A I do.

Q, So you didn't come down to look at him to see hether he

was the same man that ran out j r not? A No, I didn't bother

about it. Tou see, I didn't hear it for two weeks or there-about- s.

I --had (?one out of town aid returned. Immediately I

heard it I was struck with so much surprise that.I immediately

went down to Cunningham' s and asked them about it. I , said, "I

heard you caught the man." They said, "Yes.", .1. said, "What Is

this man's name?" They told me. I said , "I think they have

got the wrong man, haven't you? I know that man. The man

has been placed from our office again and again, and we are

for him. I think yuu are mi stake n." I said, "I want you to

understand I am no t interested in the boy
'-

--"

Q, What' di d Cunningham' say? A He says he knows; he felt
pretty sure that was the right-man- . So there was a contention

between us. Well, I said, "I don't know, I am no t into this

affair, there is nothing in it that 1 should cart anything about

i t at all, but I do like to ; people get fair play." I said,

"I. am eure you ere mietakjaft, Kv. Oimnlagham. n-
- Well, there wbb

a little contention with us, N it dropped from that time.



?
Q .H Ji thast,hewas ,n,ot mi taken? 'WelfiVi

seemingly ao, at that time. '--'
'--

BY MR. MEDALIE:

Q When did you first talk to Myrtle Wilson about this case?

Or didnJ t you talk to her about it? A No,, she was the one-tha- t

11 rst called my attention to It.
-

v qflsa

i. When was that? A About two weeks after; ' I can't remem-

ber the very date.
( She told you Ernest Boldin was. arrested? A She did.

I wanted toknow from her how did die know, and then she in
4

her statement either she said, "He is not the man either that?
' sH

they are after, that ran out of the hall"'. I says, "How do you m

Know?"

Q, She spoke to you first ahout-thi-s, that is right, isn't it? mi

A .That is correct,

Q You di'di't speak to her first about this? A No.

Q If she says that you spoke to her about it she i s mis-

taken, of course?

THE COURT: Do not answer that question.

Q Did you speak to Ida Bourne about this case, or did she

Bpeak to you? A Oh, I questioned the girls, after going down

to see Cunningham then I came back and tried to again make

sure.

i You sent for Ida Bourne9 Oh, I didn't send for her.

ii Well, did ; . ct iold of nar A They were right &ere ,

.

, , ...
fe '



m
fi .spoke tb her abfiutf

f

H She never mentioned anything to you? A I don't remenbei

)iwho spoke first In that particular instance, I can't tell you

tha t.
A

Q, How well do you know Ernest Boldin? A Well-- , I can't say

fc4 I know him too well;- - I know. him for the past year, or there-

abouts. $j

Q VShen did you first get acquainted' with, him? A -- About a

year ago, thereabouts. My first meeting him I judge was coming

into the office applying for a portion.
- Q Did he apply for a position very often? A I think if I

remember all right, unless I have the record my ife telle
me she sent him out about twice.

Q Tou never gave him a job? A I remember taking him once to

a position, but he did not get that one,

Q, When was that? A That was, oh, fco far as I can remember,

I guess about two months and a half ago, or thereabouts.

Q Sometime in July or August? A I would be able to state

that,
Q Within a month before his arrest? A It migtit have keen

a month or five or six weeks.
s

Q, Did he ever pay you a fee? A I hate that question.,

4 I knaw you do. A I ragrst to say that tk boy- - owes, us

two & right now.

Tour records $&w that? A . ir.
Yu tjB an etlv trij4rrt m tpXoyawit mnw
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. r?C '.ir --ar tn atn?ur ' --wix e owns?" A Oh. 'naturally WO ie i'lrray wife. If

a

HP-''1- ' Q Tou get employment for domestic servants, don't you? A That J

Is the business of the agency, you mean? '.
.

. Q Yes, A . Yes, 1

jmr-i-f

Cl An A MM.Mn 4 4--- UA , iJ j--- -- i li., ,
.

-- -;

t. v"u. ouiub ui wicoc uujuubuxu Bcrvants are orougm nere oy yo,u

from Bermuda?, A . Not at present, ncf, .u,

Well, they used to be? A No, not directly,
Q, Well, indirectly? A Indirectly, about two or three years

ago - a couple of years ago,"

Yes, I know, sometime ago? A Some time ago.
ft:

Q You used to import young women from Bermuda? A No, sir.
m

Q Didn't you? A No, sir, not a question of importing,
a

Q Well, you had -- them brought Jaere to' the agency? A A

couple of times I brought two or three' relatives and I brought i
a friend, but not by the agerfcy the agency did not bring

them.

Q Well, you did not give the agency credit for that, did you?

A No, we did not.
Q You didn't have that noted in your agency records that

you brought these young women here from Bermuda? A You will find

on the record that they were sent out for pod tions from there.
"Q, But the agency had nothing to do with their coming in

aere, you say?
, iW1--F v -

Objacttd to. Objectioa overruled. fff

Ar yati quit aura as t tin i&oral character --of fcha places

hart yau sent tfcsse yjung wtwtxi? ' Wall, as far as wo could

iVtlt? y gjj.,, .
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yea

Q Aid you are pretty certain that you sent them to reputa-

ble places? A As a rule.
Q Hot to brothels? A Not intentionally.

BY THE COURT:

Q, He is speaking about particular girls that you got
from Bermuda. Did you send them to brothels or not? A Brothels?

4 Yes. You know what a brothel is, don't you? A No.

Q A house of prostitution? A Not intentionally.
Q But as a matter of fact did they go to houses of prostltu-tion- ?

A I know of no case in which thy were sent to a house

of prostitution.
BY MR. MEDALIE:

Q- - Why were you so much in doubt about It as to say that
you did not do it intentionally? A Well, because we usually

ascertain. We cannot go any further than ask the question of a

party, or investigate from the party hiring these' help who they

are, or what kind of a place they are keeping.

Q In other word3, the best investigation you make is to ask

the lady who calls for the young woman that you have there,

whether or not she keeps a brotfael, is that right? A No, we

don't aak it that way.
'

WsH4 f qvl ask it in a indirot f? A In an Indirect way

i Ait im makf-tl-.

r .
,

P--



i . oil send- - the --giawtoiltlwoma'nfjie' j
TWAijr

t. . "any that riKht ? j-e-
e,

'?tfW xU . . ,. : - . ,'-.- ,'

nuai xo bxxc wu,y, .' -
.

RE-DIRE- CT EXAMINATION BY MR . HEWITT:

Q About the smile on, the District .Attorney1 s face, remarking

that you are under oath do you solemnly swear that thisiqpi? '

'
-

.

-.-

-.

. '
-- Vj

'"
.. .'".'. t

is not the man '(pointing to defendant)? A I solemnly swear, ;.

" V"' ; - .

sir, that that i s --not tie. man that came-ou- t on that particular
day.

Q What is" your chauffeur's name? A His name is Gedarge Cordles.
'

BY THE COURT: ;'.. SlBB
Q, Did you know that this boy had. been convlctedjbfT a crime,

fr- -
IE?

when --you gave him a place? A I did not, no; I- - never heard 'of .

his being convicted of crime.

Q Well, his lavjyer said he was in addressing the jury; I
don1t know' anything about it? A That he had 'been, formerly

convicted of crime? "

Q Yes. A Well, I assure you we didn't know about it.r -

. "

l You don't know much about your people, or-- tht places you

are sending than? A Oh, we investigate. This i snot my imm-

ediate duty. Thft is my wife's business. I am not directly

interested.
Q You do not interfere in your wife's business? A Well, I

J!t-- v ' ' '

simply help her o ut occ aslonally . A while ago she was away

for
'

day or t and I helped mr - ut'. ,-- 1

t '$
t .-.-

m h,m
i " t?feg
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PrO'Vo 0 R D- -r 8- - (l31ast 133rd street), calicad m
y?

t

a witness in behalf of the defendant, be lng first"
duly sworn,

'" '

: '

-
--

.

' ! .V-,-- -

.
'

'"
1--!

testifies as follows:

DIRECT EXMIlUTlQi? BY MR HEWIT.T:

Q, Were you at 131 West 133rd street- - on th.e afternoon of 5 v
vSWy

.V '

September 6th, 1913? A Yes, sir, I was, opposite the door, '-- 3

Q Vhat were you doing there? A I was looking after my auto

mobile at the time. '

Q Which automobile? A The one I operate.

Q Do yo ) own it? A No, sir.. m

Q Who owns it? A R. Fiirbert owns it.
Q Was he there at the time with you? A Yes, sir.
Q Did eny racket occur at. that time? A Yes, sir. I: .

Q Waat di dyou see, what took place? A I heard an excite- - .

ment coming down the hallway and 1 heard some one hollering out,

"Stop him, stop the man", end when I Rooked around and. saw a

man running out the hallway -

4 Was he chased by another man? A Chased by the janitor of

the house.

Q What ia the j anitor a name? A I guess his name is -

Q If. you don't know, say so? A His name is Mr. Cunningham.

Q Did you observe the man that was being chased? A Well', from

a quick
'

glance, I did,
-

Q Yts r ? A Tea, I ilirtitrw'liti.
T,k i good Isok at ttti fiftti&-t- S defendant jf A' Xv

hi. fh iit the mast.
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0R0 S3. EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE; -
V

Q Of course, while that man waj3 running he was not going

so. fast that you could not get a good look at. him, isn't that
right? A Well, I could look at him from the direction I were. .

Q And he was running Just at about a fair rate of speed' so '

you could see him? A He ran towards me. .

Q Running very fast, or' slow, or medium? flow was he running,
''-ir-

nBr

give me an idea? A Oh, ordinary. You see, where I were, I Jam
Mwas right in front of the door. Here was ihe entrance to, the,

door, the steps coming out to the sidewalk, and my car stopped

opposite , and I stood "by the oar opposite the dooJr;When .

the man ran to me down the steps and then shot dovn the. street..

Q, How fast did he go? A I will. give you an illustration of

the steps.

Q Tell me. When a man runs fast - A You cannot run

very fast do jvn a step. ,
"

v Novra-d- id riot run very fast? A He ran fairly flit
coming down the steps, but h-?- . ran faster when he got on the ff3
at reet. .

Q He was a pretty fast runner? A Pretty fast, runner going

down the street. .

' ylt '

Q Hew till "a man was this person? A E was a man about,

efc, flv tmmb tven.

$ Shorter than I ain? A" Sfaortar t&i yo are?

ft Y. A I don't know your height.



Br"' ' Q How tall do you thinkthink
? .1 -

hehe' fifr.(Mr. Medalie)Medalie) is?is? AA Well,Well, lie "' IE i

might be a little taller than you are. I know he-i- s taller
than I an.

BY MR. MED AUK:
Vr..-JKSWi- B

Q Would it surprise you to know that I am about five feet nine? H -

A No, not a bit,
- ?Bf
,f fib

tQ But he might be 'as tall as. I am? A He might be as tall
as you are.

t

Q Was he stout or thin or very fat? A He is a heavy set

man, around one hundred arid-fift- y pounds.

Q, A heavy set man around one nundred m d fifty; he was afeout

as tall as I am? A Yes, sir.
Q, Did you ever see a heavy s.t man who weighed about one

hundred and fifty who was as i ai.i as I am? A By appearance,

looked to be as tall and as "?ii weighing one hundred and fifty.
Q, What else did yju observn about this man? A His complexion

Q What about it? A It was about my complexion (dark).

Q - Anything else about the man that particularly attracted you?

A Well, only the condition in which he came -- out.

Q What was that? A In his shirt sleeves, without a hat.
W

Q He did not carry anything with him, did he? A No, sir,

I didn't take notice.
Q, You &r sure about that? A 'I 4 alawst sure.

Q YoU H9Vr sawthe man before? 4 I,- - sir.
"

M

4:

Did you sver see this defendant borf A No, -- sir.; jSljMJ

-- rft-lS'-
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empl'o yer , , dLeou sse d f
tills matter, d'oh't you? A--

.

We did not,
1

Q Well, it was an exciting thing, you know? A Well, i was

exciting, but it .dlbh't interest me.

Q, You. knew that a burglary had "been committed by somebody,
i

t
by the man who was running out, didn't you? A That is all 'I

knew.

Q Did you know that later 'r s t day,- - one o'clock the

following morning, somebody was arrested for it? Didn't you hear

about that? A I heard them talking at-- - -- t it in the neighbor-

hood.

Q Rid you know who was arrested? A No, sir, I did not.

Q You assumed that the man who was arrested was the man who

ran out, is that right? You oelieved that the man who was

arrested was the man you saw running out of the building? A

According to that description, yes.

Q When did you first hear .t was this defendant? A I

didn't learn of that until after t .e man was arrested.
Q, How long after? A Let us se. It was about that night.

Q That night you found out ..t they arrested the wrong

man, is that right? A I di a.

Q Tell us hwfl you found -- ut ' at night that they arrested

the wrong man? A Why, by the description, '

4

Q And you knew that they made k serious mistake, didi't you?

A Oh, if they arrsstsd the man? Tfcy certainly did.

Q Wan did you ind out thm arrt4 tl wrong man? A TffeaW

v flHI



f

$ Whom didyoirtell tfcat they arrested the wrong man? '
A

4S

I didn't tell any one.

Q. Did you tell the boss that they arrested the wrong man?

A No, sir, it didi't interest rat that much.

Q You didi't care that the rong man had been arrested?
A I didn' t care.

Q Who first spoke about this case, you or Furbert? A Why,

let us see. Why, several people talked about it around there.
Q Who yas the first person t r ym you said they arrested

the wrong man? A I didn't .said it tj any one at all. TBHB

BY THE COtRT:

Q You never told any one? A I never told any one. M

Q, Thisis the first time y c ever told any one? A This is
the first time. .

BY AIR. MEDALIE:

Q Didn't you talk about , t tu Furbert?- - A No, sir.
Q How do you happen to --

-" er? A I happen to be hare through

a subpoena from the lawyer, that ot me here.
Q When, did you first tell the lawyer about it? A To-d- ay.

Q When didyoi first ttJll Furbertt about it? A I told you

I never told him about it.
Didn't you talk .to Furbart at out it for a singla minute?

A Nvj.
3

W&Li, Aid you know that V. y werv tajkin the wrong aan W

tfe peliet c;art for sxbk.i iv?.? A I ta rm ka,cd afcemt ;
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V Vi And you heaW. that they were taking the wrong man?

folks in the neighborhood talks about it all the time on the side--
mmi& i

walk, '

Q They described the man tc , ou? A Nobody described the man. t- -

I never--talke- d to anybody around tjere.
Is that the first time you metre ever spoken to anybody

about it? A Right here is the first time

Q That you are sure of? A I am sure
I

Q Nobody ever asked you to come to court? A No.

Q You never saw this defendant before? A Not in my life;
this is t.hefirst time.

f- -
RE-DIRE- CT EXAMINATION BY MR. HEWITT:

Q, Were you dovai in court this morning? A No, L was not down

here this morning.

Q Yes or no? A No, sir.
Q, What brought you down ti-u- . afternoon? A I was brought

down from a telephone.

Q Who telephoned to "you? A I don't know. I suppose the

lawyers telephoned. to me.

Q Did it sound like my voice over the telephone? A No.

Q You certainly did not speak to me over the telephone?

A Well, somebody must have, phoned for. you. '

Q ' Did you speak to ma o-U- t in a. jrrldor about, half an

Hour or an hour ago? A I guass I aAl.

l Could v - at that iit t .a-tivr- iy Tell a that tfc mai?
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m man on the witness stand?
) I

MR . MEDALIE: Objected to on the ground he cm not

rehabilitate his Witness in that way.

. THE COURT: Objection sustained.
Q Did you speak to me out in the corridor an hour or so ago?.

M
A I did, yes, -- sit. v

Q Will you tell the jury what I said to you?

Objected to. Objection overruled.
f-i'- u

.

,jJ

A He asked me do I know the defendant. He asked me did. I --

see the man that ran out of the hallway down the street to the

avenue; I said yes, I did. He said, "Can you describe the man? n

I said, "Yes , I can" -- - which I did, as I told you. The man

sayB -- -- about one hundred and fifty pounds or so, and he is a

dark complected man J He asked me "Do. I know the defendant?"

I said, "No." He said, "Will I go up. and say that?" I said,

"Yes, I will." ..'""
EDWARD P. W E L T ON (172 West 135th street ,) called

as .a witness for the defendant , being first duly sworn, testifies
as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR . HEWITT:

Q In the afternoon of September 6th, 1913, --where were you?

A 588 Lenox avtnue, Mra Fil.d; isui.
Q Who 1 Mrs.. Fields? A Mra. Bolain' s sister. .

Yo-- u wtre in that oyuse ast tnu t t --ui? '-- A' At that timt.

"'..What mm f bu do tng trrt? A iiitiiig.-- '
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Mihat lffle-tblea'abab- yJnvingJfAfvAjSmani oar- - JH)? -

"rlagi m .d a dresser. m

Q Were you hired as a painter? A Ho, but I was doing odd

Jobs.
Q, Did you get paid -- for what ,ju .did? A I got paid for what --v

I-di- d.

Q. Was this at 588 Lenox avenue? A 588 Lenox avenue.

Q Was this defendant in the home of Mrs.' Pi elds on the

afternoon of September 6th? A - September 6th was on a Saturday. fjf e

XM ' v
Q Was he there? A Tfes he there? Sure.

Q You saw him- - there? A I saw him there-- , passing-bac- k and'
4

fo rwar ds thr ough th e ro oms

Q Did you keep. your eyes continually on him? A Not all
the time because .1 had my work t-- o do.

Q He might have gone out? A He might have gone out from what

I know; I don't know.

Q, Ho w many times about did you see him during the afternoon?

A Pour or five times.

Q How was he dressed? A He . as in his shirt sleeves.

Q What was he doing?" A Waiting on his sister. His sister was

sickly, his youngest sister.
W

$ What name? A Anna Boldan.
f ( (BJh aj&SSW

GROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDAXIE:

Tfou saw him, y.ou aay , unly foar vr fiv timss that aftsrnoon?- -
"1

A That afternoon.
t) mr1r fcfca nn- - .. f Ho .uii t b 1e m&aa nee him fAtKl
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Q How many minutes at a time did you see him? A Sometimes 4.
-- i !

Ita
t- -iffifteen, b ometimea I wouldn't "see him for half an hour.

Q Whatiie did in the mean time you do'n't know? A I don't:
know. ' .

.
.

s
'

Br,
" VS

V
w I

HE-DIRE- CT EXAMINATION BY MR. HEWITT:
t '$J

f What street is that House at, - 588? A Between 139th

and 140 th,

RE-CRO- SS EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE:

Q Wien were you first sp oke'n to about this case? A- - WelX;

1 can't just remember now, ,

Q, Oh, how long ago? A It seems to me a few weeks ago, thre
"or fo ur weekB.

Q Were you spoken to about this case in September? A It was

in seP"t ember,

Q Did yoi go to the police court? A I di d not.
Q Vhen did you first find out he had been arrested? A I Em

flound out through his sister.
Q When? A On Saturday it was on a Monday.

Two days after his arrest? A It was on Monday when I
went to collect, my bill.

Q Was that two days after his arrsst? A Two days after
the day I was in his house.

Q Did you go to m olios etert,? A N, I lidi't eo to nov --mm

polio a court.
, t tSM
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w arrested? ,

sv
)- -1

.. Q Was that' all? A That's all.
C Did you know him? A I- - know him by seeing him through his

sister, through doing work for his sister now and.then.

'.''.. '
'

,.
'"' tr"'""'', " '

.

A N N A BOLD I N (588 Lenox avenue) called as1 awit- -

ness in bhalf of defendant, toeing first duly sworn, testifies as
f4

follows: m

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HEWITT:

Q Are you the si ster of this defendant? A I am.

Q Where were you on the afternoon of September 6th, 1913?
' "'"." .'.?''A September 6th I came home about, half past two from work,

sick, very sick.
Q Was your brother at home that afternoon? A He was. He

filled the hot water -

Q Was he at home at 'two o'clock when you came home? A Half

past one when. I came he was there.
Q Was he in the house all afternoon? A Tea, sir.
Q Did he leave it at any time? A Only when he went on an

errand in the drug store for me.

Q How long was he out them? A Not very ong because ,1 was
.?,

waiting for the Omega pil. im
Q Five minutes or ten minutes or -- hmUfim her? A a Five

.
.-

-

-
: . , - '

. 4 .

ainutea; tut over five minutes. '

- ': : .'.:.:' . '''

$ What street is. tfcat teeuee at? A ';-tr- r l&m& and 140 th
Man Jienosc avenue. '
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MPrrMillyiwLrasaSSPKtV. Eook at that Handkerchief (handing People's Exhibit X to "TBI Wi
isii

pihfewitneefl) carefully; have you ever seen it before? A I
have, surely.

Q Vhen did you frst'eee it? A I seen it on the" second
, 0 Mm

of August.
--JIM

0 Whei ri1 rt v oil rfit. it.? A I or. 1 .
--frriTn. o o t1 Win flT-n-n

T '-- O w w -- . .m -- . ,.. - , .- -. - WM VSitB
Q Did she give it to ycu?" A She gave it to me on the 2nd

of August,

0, For yourself? A No, for ray brother's birthday.
Q. Por this defendant? A Yes.

ii What did she say when she gave it tc - ou?

THE COURT: Never mind that.
Q Tliat did you do with the handkerchief? A I had it in my

trunk, and also this pin.

Q Did the girl give you that pin with the handkerchief? A She

did.

Q Por whom was the pin? A The pin is mine.

Q The pin was for-you- ? A Yes.

Q, And the handkerchief was for whom? A Por my brother

Ernest.
Q Vhat did you do ith the handkerchief? A I kept it in

a trunk until Monday morning, and I gave it to him before I

went to work.

Q Wiat date? A On the 4th of August.

Q, Is that date of any peculiar significant in yotr family?

A That was his birthday.
fsiSBllsB
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Q Did you give the handkerchief to your brother because of
H- -5

instruction's you had received from Ella Green?

THE COURT: I will sustain an objection to that.
r r-

Q Have you a piano in your home? A I' certainly have.

Objected to. Objection sustained. m

Q Do you live with your sister, Mrs. Field A I do.

Q Does your brother live with your sister, Mrs. Pi elds?

A He do. 4

MR. HEWITT: I desire to renew the questions now.

THE COURT: Put your question.

Q Is there-- a piano in your sister's home?

Objected to. Objection sustained. Exception. 1

CRO SS, EXAMI1J ATION BT MR. MEDAIJE:

Q Do you work? A Certainly, I do general housework.

Q You were not eorking Saturday afternoon? A I have Satur-

day afternoon off ai d I was off that day. .

Q When did you first find out that your brother had been

arrested? A About three o'clock Sunday morning.

Q What did you do? A I was aick, I.couljli't do anything.
t

Q, Did you go to court? A I did not, but my sister had sane,

one go for her.
Q, Did you ever tell anybody that your brother was home on

0V

the afternoon- - of that gaturday? A H was.

'q .Whom did you, first tall? A Why, I knew, k was there.,

Q 4b wjiom didy ftvn tail UkajiS BU vb-- o tm ewtfl 4
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lrfl ;ell It to anybody? A Wo- - lUdHnoti

.-
-

a fff! k 'ai"
jgW

Qj You knew the rti;ance or telllnc 1 1 in court, dldnt vou?

A Yea, but I didn't go to court,
Q Whoever told you that the case was coming up in court told.

$&
you it was coming up the next morning? A Why, we looked up 3

about that, sent and, found he was arrested and then -- --

Q Wno tol.d you he was arrested? A Two boys came there about

three o 'clock" Sunday night.
9, How sick were you? A I was very sick. I was sick over

six d.ays and had the doct'o r. fc3
nv.

9." Did ycu see your brother all of that afternoon? A I seen

him at half pa at two until eleven o'clock that night.
Q He didn't go out of your sight except for a few minutes?

A Only for a few minutes. He went to the drug store for me,

and 'then he went fo the store f or my sister, .

Q How was he dressed? A I don't know, - I' know he had a

pair of tan shoes on.

Q Did he wear a coat? A Tes, sir.
Q Ware his sleeves rolled up? A I don't know.

Q Was he in his shirt sleeves? A No , he had a coat on.

Q Tou are sure he had his coat on?- - A I know he did.

A N H A LEE, (50- - Warfc 132nd street, ,) called as a

witness in behalf cf the defendant , being first duly sworn,
'

testifies as follows I
j1

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR . HEWITT:

A VUon wa,o',rA,. M V.a V Qw,, Gon.,a A IQIO & A. MT 'UB4K MVi W Jf WU Wt U.U.15 CU. VC1UWUU WJ. mH9UkVhiA W, .kf.Ml i w
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. Q Doo youyou meanmean Mrs.Mrs. PiPi elds'elds' home?home? A'A' Yea,Yea, ' m. - l

Q Doea.thia defendant live with his si ster, Mrs. Fields?
mm

A Yes, sir.
Q What were you doing in that home? A I was cl eaning ' ar uidi?feVjg&9HB

cram.- -

I generally tie care of the child', and I was cleaning for them r H9f
as the painters had been there painting.

Q Were you thefe during the entire evening? A Yes, sir.,
Q Was this defendant there that afternoon? A Yes, sir,

0. Was he there duflna: the entire afternoon?. A He was. a?
. - rr

Q Did he go out at any time for any reason? A He went ot
twice; once he went to the store' for his sister to get gro-eer- ie

s and different things, and the last time he went out was

because I needed Bon Ami to wash the windows, and that Was t

about half past one.

Q What-- was the longest period of time that passed by while

he vas out? How long was he out, the greatest time? A Well,
'

he only has to go right down stairs to the delicatessen store;

that don't ttke him five minutes . Right down under us is the

delicatessen,
Q, Was Anna home from work? A Anna Boldin came home from

W
work about two o'clock, sick; his sister.

; Q Where was she? A Sie came from work.
t.

Q Wall, was she In tiw.fceuse? A In fchfdinin room, on the

couch, lying down.

Q Do you know of jeir om kftowldgs h r not Ernest B- -
. 1
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'to the store for Omega, Oil.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR.1 MEDALIE:

9. You say there had "been painting in the house? A Yes.
v

Q, And that is --why you were cleaning up? A That is why .

" 3B
I was cleaning. WtmaHKf,-- ' '

f9BT
Q After the painters? A After the painters.

t

Q When had the painters finished their painting? A Well, I
?4

don't exactly know, because I don't stay there.
Q Now, the painters were already finished, is that right?

A --They were already fini she'd painting?

Q Yes. A Not exactly; they had varnishing tie do and dlf-- if
4

ferent things, but I was cleaning up floors and washing windows,

because we wanted to hang curtains.
Q Well, the painters were not there? A No, only a fellow

was there by the name of Weldon there, painting her table,
but he was not doing the house painting.

Q How long was he there? A Well, he was there until about

five or half, past five.
Q How long were you there? A Until ten to eleven that night.

Q And you saw the defendant in the house all ther time?

A The whole time, excepting the twb times. I told you.

Q And how was he dressed? A Ernest? He was working in his

shirt sleeves.
. Q Shirt sleeves? A Around, th hovaie. ,

:
0 Pretty surt hu-- - i .at0 A was. fT

JC"



IHiiiHEHBT4MBi,i' H ' ' : ', ';
was tf Pricing? A' lea.' .from one thiitninK to anotner.

?r HI1i v "''' Q. lin did he leave' the liouse? A .Two times, I-tol-
d. you..

Q Well, later did he leave the.house before you left? A At r--iil

night, yes.

Q What time? A His sister sent him to the store ; it was: .M
f .

'
,

'.i.','.'rather late,' 'Mr ;

Q After eleven o'clock did he leave' the house? A After-eleve-
n

no, I don1 t think so.

Q Did he stay in the house when you left? A No.

Q What did he do? A He went to the store for his sister.
Q The sane time thatnyou went out? A Ho. . I was there-unti- l .

seme time after. He was sent to the chop suey" place.
, f

Q You left the house at about eleven? A Around eleven,

I said. Not on the minute. I don't know exactly.

Q Arouid eleven? A Yes.

Q When you left was he in the house? When you went home was

he home? A Was Ernest home when I went home?

Q TeB. A Ho, he was not home, no.

Q Vhen had he gone away? A Well, I don't know exactly what
h "H -- H

time.

q Ten o'clock? A No, it was after ten, after half past

ten.
Q, Do yuu know where he went? A He went to the chop suey

place t jget pepp.nr. sttak, 'from the chop suey place.
--M: i? .

$ tou don't know rather went out late at night to make,

up f orr his dome eti Virtu a all day? A I don't know what bap-jn- d -- 'I
"

ftfttr I lfv. AH', i Qm &aiB i itiat I 'sawv
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sard ot him was on my way - . was on tt(

Himy way him toeing arrested.
Q..What time was that? A Oh, that was when I left our house uti tMEx&m

around 11 o'clock, I went to a girl friend's house by the name-- '
.

of Emma Simmons, in 124th street. On my way .back I met another '

girl friend of mine, by the name of lelia'and she told me Mrsi

Fields1 brother, Ernest, was locked up,

Q That was about 11 o'clock when you were going home? A' No,

I left her house at around 11.

Q, What time id you hear this - twelve o'clock, one or two? J

A I don't know exactly what time, but I know, it was later than

that, because I had to go away to 124th street an'd come back,

but I don't know the time.

Q It was about twlsje o'clock that you heard -- that he was'

arrested? A I guess so, I don't exactly know.

Q He was not arrest edin his home, was he? A No.

Q, Then he was out? A Yes, sir.
Q, I want to know what time he left his home to go out and

meet his friends? A I left her house around 11 o.' clock.

BY THE COURT:

Q Well, do you know or not what time he went out? A He,

went out before I went, I told you that at first.
BY'JiR. MEDALIE: s

Q" He .went out to fcuy s anything 'in the chop suey plaoft- - at & b

bung- - it beck? A Ppjsir ;wrjt, ar pepper ateak, but h never



pp? ' Q That is the last t&meyoti' saw him?' A Tea, sir, hV never. & !

c sine back. . Jiggf ,

RE-DIRE-
CT EXAMINATION BY MR. HEWITT:

1 !r"'iHB
Q Will you examine that handkerchief, please (People's

Exhibit 1);. have, you aver sea it before? A This hand-

kerchief?

Q Tes. A No , I never seen that handkerchief . I don't think

it was as dark grey as that.

RE-CRO- SS EXAMINATION BY MR. MED ALE :
''ISP--

r',

Q Did you give him any present? A No, I never gave him a
'K$

present.

(The Court now declares an adjournment to Wednesday,, ?'-,- & '
a P." . V

October 29, 1913, at 10:30 a. m., frst duly ad-

monishing the jury in accordance with law.)

"L .' I

. i

tefir.
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New York, October. 29th, 1913.;

. v

. TRIAL RESUMED. v3?s'
i'

, ... ,. . . .

'
'

t

ji . MR. MEDAUE: '. May Furbert be. reoalle'd for one or two',,;

further questions on cross examination.

THE COURT: Is he here?

MR.. HEWITT: ' I don1 1 know whether -- he is here or not.'' J'-- ;
-

(Witness Purbert called for with no response.)

a .. . , E R N E S T BOX DIN (588 ''Lenox avenue), the de feh dant

here, called in his own behalf being first dult sworn, fae s--
:

'
. ' .

'' ''..- -
.

'...(..' - --

.

tifies as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION .BY MR. HEWITT:

You live with your sister,. Mrs. Fields? A Yes.

Q And your sister Annie Boidin? A Yes, sir. i.rj,
' '

' ..'..'.' ; '. .'.- -
.

.

Q How. old are you? A Eighteen;

Q You have .been previously convicted of the. crime of carry

ing a revolver? A Yes, sir. ,
'

, ra
Q Were you sent to jail.? A Sent" to a reformatory.

Q How long were you there? A Six months.

Q What was the nature of the work that you did in the re-format- oryi

if any? A Brick laying and dock
"

work.
-

' y

Q How old were you at the time you. were in theref oratory??.

A Sixteen '
.

Q Were you put at light work or heavy worker work that was
n?. ,: t
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sal thai very light or very --heavy? A Light work for abouta' V t "H
RJ

'n -

onth; then heavy work for the remaining 'five months.

Q what was the heavy work that you did?

THE COURT: I will suot.ain an objection to that. Pleased

, proceed.

Q Did you receive any injuries while you were at the reformat

tory? A Yes, sir.
Q What was the nature of the injury? A A slight rupture,

a strain.
Q Wasthat. due to the work that you did ia the reformatory?

SBA Yes, sirU
THE COURT: That- - is a conclusion. X will sustain an

objection to it.
Q Are you at this time able. to run, run fast? A Ho, sir.
Q Going back to the 6th of September, 1913, tell the jury

what you did on that day; start. from the beginning and go right

through the day? A I got up about eight o'clock in the .morning

I went to the store once about nine o'clock for my sister to

get a can of condensed milk. I didn't go any more before one

o'clock on that day to get a loaf of bread and from one o'clock

up till half past two I didn't go out in the street until my

sister come home sick. She sent me over to the drug store to

get a hot water bag for. her an'd from half past two up till eleven

o'clock that night I was home helping my sister and waiting' on i
my sick sister. ,

At eleven o'clock of that night my 'oldest sister sent me
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BH'out' to the Chinese,se restaurantrestaurant targettoget somesome" pepperpepper pork,pork, -- sos 'I "4JIP

....f
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had to go from between 139th and 140th street, clean to 134th

street, to the Chinese restaurant So while I was in 134th

street I went to the shoemaker's store, but it was closed; so

y--if&'-
Wi

I walked around 134th street to get a pair of .heel plates put

Oh my shoes and it was a customer in there when I first went

in, and I had to wait about three quarters of an hour, and ,

then the shoemaker put the heels on my shoes and X come out.

I was coming up 133rd street, and I passed a large crap

game. So I passed this large crap game and there was about

ten others from it and two men was quarreling right in front of

the cigar store, so out of curiosity I just stopped to listen
to them. Whilst I was listening to them, the complainant walks

up to me and says, "Say, young fellow, do you know a woman

named Mary Davis?" I said "No, sir." He said, "Are you sure

you donvt know her?", and while I was talking to him a detec-

tive walks over and taps me on the shoulder and tells me to

come on. I saysj "What for?" He said "All right, you know.
B ' jfel ' 1

You. will find out when you got to the station house. "

He "carried" me down to the station house and this

complainant walks in. So he walks in and then he said he

was going to get another man. So they go and get this jani-

tor and come in and ask the janitor, and says, "Is this the man?",

and he looks at me about two minutes and then pointed and says,
j f.--

f

"Yes, that s the man." '

, So then the detective in the station house asked this
.ii fjr&
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that this nan has here?1 And he takes a silk handkerchief out

of this pocket, out of this pooket and lays it on the desk

there. He said, "Do you recognize any of these things? ", and

he- - kinds of looks and walks away, he goes back and he says,

"I will take this handkerchief." So then he holds me there
I

until one. o'clock and takes me over to court where I waived

examination. r

Q Is that your Handkerchief (showing witness People's

Exhibit 1)? A Yes, sir.
SaMr

' Q Where, did you get it? A I received it from' my sister --im-
--si

s.

Q when? A On August 4th, the morning of my birthday.
Q, Where was it at the time of your arrest? A. Just like

that (putting handkerchief in lef.t breast pooket of coat on

outside)

Q Sticking out of your pocket? A Yes, sir.
Q, At 4 p. m. , on atiirday, September 6th, 1913, about say

from a quarter of four to four p. m., where were ydu? A I was EM
home.

Q Were you up on the top floor at any time of 131 West

133rd street? A No
r

w Q Did you break into tltat house? A Ho, sir.
Q When your sister gave you this handkerchief on your

birthday what did she say?

THE COURT: I will sustain an objection to that.

MR. HEWITT: Exception.

Q, Is there anything else you 'want to tell this Jury that'
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MR. MEDALIE:
" I do not like to cut off the defendant j vmutt- -

.'.'.. '''?. " JIp 1

from offerihg all that is proper, but I

.
MR iHEWETT: well, your witness, then. ;

.
--

& JirtHH

THE COURT Wall ' "hfi 'ftnn nnv r-il.d- iiri 'n '!! a aU f.
'-

-'''

'tHsslK

against himi .
.

.MR. MEDALIE: Yes, I am perfectly willing that he

tell anything about the charge. . . . TT

iif,

MR. HEWITT: Your witness.

CRO SS EXAMINATION BY MR:. MEDAXIE: --- ?

'Oh
Q What time was it when you were arrested? A It was a lit-

tle after twelve.
".--

.'' ;';.'' . . .n .

.--

,. M
Q A little after? ' A Yes, sir. "

v

Q Wasn't it one o'clock? stop and
' ;ttiink? A I an not

positive 9

Q You won't say" that it was one o) clock? A Ho, siry I

won'.t say "that it was not one.

Q .Did you expect to find a shoemaker' s shop open after
twelve o'clock at night? A After twelve?

(J How, you did not repeat your lawyer' s questions, why

dosyou repeat --mine? A No, sir, 1 dicta' t expect to find one openw.
-- after .twelve., but before twelve.

Q I understand that you left the house at eleven o'clock,

is that right, to get pepper pork? . A little after eleven.

. To get pepper pork at. the chop suey restaurant? A Yes, sir,

And did you get the pepper pork? A No, air.
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134th street to get your shoes fixed, ia that it? A 133rd :m
street.

Q '.Just to get your shoes fixed? A Yes. sir. 1 nr""fTr --
'

Q And you spent over an hour attending to that when some- -
' '' -- .''""'-.- '

'' .''body at home was waiting for you to go on an errand, is that
right? 'A Well, the" chop aUey place ain't open till Z o'clock

'.'
"

.''' .'.'. '

'on Sunday morning.

Well, when you went out to get that pepper pork when di d

you expect to comeback? A I; expected to be back by twelve..
Bl

Q You didn't tell anybody you were going out to have your f'tlV.""fsB

. shoes fixed? A Well, they didn't expect me right back. ..'

Q Did you tell them? A They asked me would I go out' and

get the pepper pork and I said yes.

Q And then you went out? A I went out. .

'

Q And did y outcome back, as soon as possible?" A Yes, sir.
Q You didn't expect to make a night of it, did you? A No,

sir,. I did not. ; Em
Q Because you were a home-stayi- ng boy? A Yes, sir.
Q You had been home all day? A Ye.s, sir.,
Q When did you last work? A When did I last woik?

,F
Q, Don't repeat my questions. Answer them readily, if you

' '

can? A I worked a little over a month before my arrest.
, Q For whom did you work? A I worked for Edward Walton.

i '... .

'
.

Q, Where? A At a bicycle op; I was helping him.

Q How long did you work there? A Going on two months.
mHIII
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Q en-di- d you work btfore that? A I wasworkiM iap It ':MI '

t

MP"' "
,-

-, Convent' Court, 149th street and Convent avenue.
'1 V I

Q A month before you were arrested you quit working for

this Bicycle Shop man, is that right?' A Yes, sir.
Q And you had been working steadily for two months before- -

9

that? A Yes, sir.
Q So that of course you 'did not need to go to Furbert for SHE

any employment at that time did you? A I went there on account

of I got sick.
Q Did you go to Furbert while you were working for the

bicycle man? A I waa-no- t working for the bicycle man, no, sir..
Q You didn't go to Furbert while working for th.e bicycle

man? A Well, I had just got a stationary job, for just helping

him out.

Q Then you did not do any work during those two months,

did you? A Hot so steady work, no, sir.
Q Then for at least three months before your arrest you

did not have a single steady Job, is that right? A Three

months before my arrest, yes, sir.
Q Well," what was the single" steady job you had within EE

three months before? A. Running an elevator up in Convent Court,

Q, When was that? A That was around May.J - .

Q From May to about July, did you have a job? A Only in

this bicycle shop.

$ How long were you working as an elevatar boy in that

house in May? A Over six months. 'm fe
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mmr&m . inre you working steadily fo r six months? A Tea, sirt wmsmm k

$ Down till May, is that right? A Tea, air. lip i
Q From about November or December, down to May you were work--

ing steadily aa.an elevator boy? A Yeaj air.
Q Then you di d not have to go to Furbert during that time,

ia that right? A Mr. Furbert? I went to hie place bu't H"JMfc.

another boy. gave me the Job.
- !

Q, During the time you were working as an elevator boy in
3

Convent Court, from about November to May A 'Not November;

from January,

Q From January to May, did you go hear Furbert, looking for ,w

a job? A No, sir,
Q, Becauae you had a-jo- b you didnot have to look for one?

--est--
&t --p" A No, sir,

Q Well, then you were out of employment for about a month or ,

two? A For about a month or two? For about two months,

Q You were doing nothing? A Only helping up in the employ--
"j

ment "shop - in the bicycle shop, ,,

i And that was only an odd job? A An odd job, yes, sir,
Q You didi't get a regular weekly wage, did you? A No , sir,

I gotpiece $ob. '

r

Q So that from abwUt May down to the time that you were

arrested, you didnot have a regular job, did you? A No, air,

not a regular job. t n
9" 1- -

Qs-And- then you would come, in to Furbert looking fo r a jobf

is that; right? A Yes, air." '

FiiliiiSBSSSSSSsQ
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lt conviction.
Q. You knew hlja before your last conviotion? A Tea, sir. Ji
Q Were you convicted of carrying a revolver? A Yes, sir......' ' '.-.- '

--.. BUIU jruiU4.OOHUWHiWI.iUU. WUU WICI C Sly Oilier COn" " "iii

viction? A No, sir, that is.what I mean..' to j

: k3
Q The only conviction you have-eve- r liad? A Tea,, sir.

" FiijC

Q Having a revolver concealed on your person, is that
'right? A Yes, sir. :

.

Q How long had you been carrying that revolver? A jfoout

one hour. .'."' ''' ' - ..Ai
.

Q Just an accident that you were caught . an hour after you

got it? A Just an accident. I was taking it home.
" ".

.

'
-- ' "4

Q
.

What were you doing with that revolver? A "What were

I doing with a revolver?

Q Now, do you need time to. think? Do not repeat my ques-

tions! if you do not know the answer take your time until you

can think of the answer. I just. had it in my pocket, . takLng

it home. Hi ; H

Q. What di d you want i t for - a toy? A No, sir,
Q .Vh at was it for? A. A fellow needed some money so he. asked

"': ' ''''V-
-

'twt ' "
e if I would, lend him ,75 cenwn this revolver, and he would

give me 1.50 the following Saturday night.
."..'.'.A. The following Saturday night? A Yes, sir.

Buyou were arrested an hour after you got the revolver?

A. Yes. ,y
')

Q So th ti he, never gj?ave you the dollar and fifty cental .
.7
- J.

A,
!



p?rr isifflE1 imK Q So you were going to become a pawnbroker lend
s J i irnwiiii i iii lat 100 interest and keep the revolver for security? A That

was his agreement, yes, sir.
Q, You never intended to do anything wrong with '.that re- -

i

volver? A No , sir. .

Q Wasn't that revolver loaded? A It was loaded when I.

received it from him.

Q Tou thought there was no crime in carrying a loaded re-

volver in your pocket end taking it home? A I didi'.t think

there was any crime taking it home, no, sir,
Q Were you working at that time? A Yes, sir.

,
4?

Q, Yheh you were arrested the officer found some pins on

you, didn't. he? A Yes, sir.
Q He. found this horseshoe pin (indicating)? A Yes, sir.
Q And he found these two pins here' (indicating)? A Yes, sir.
Q Ladies pins? A Yes, sir.
Q Where did you get than? A I go t than from 132nd street

and Lenox avenue.

Q For what? A To hold shirts in position.

Q To ho Id your shirt. in position? AYes, sir.
Q, Did you need to hold your Bhirt in position with ladies'

breastpins? A Two of them. They sell than for five cents a

pair. -

Q Oh,, that as your own? A Yes, sir.
l

Q Then they do not belong to any woman, do they? A' They
j.
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p Hl iflii-Diu- e enwiei pin; with. an imitation dlnohd ot;a;
Jfp

'real diaaohd In the middle, was that to keep your collar in
piaee? A Yes, sir. !JWni?A,.'', .

Q You did not steal it, dldyou? A No, sir.
- C;3jB

. Q .Why didi't you wear it on your collar instead of carry- -,

ing it in your pocket? A I had it in my. vest.
Q Where did you have it oh my vest, ,

l Where did you have it on your vest? A Just naturally
sticking, there.

.

Q
.

So that you would not lose it? A Yes, sir.
Q, You were not really using it then? A No , sir, not at the

.W- - time.
"

Vi .
'

Q' Why dioh't you leave it home? A I. had. it on my vest

for a week.

Q Were you afraid to leave it home? A No, sir. J

.Q, Were you afraid your folks would find put you had som-

ething that you should not have? A They seen it on my vest

all the time. , V

Q They never said a word about it? A No, sir. ,

Q However, for a full month you were not working even for
.the bicycle man? A, No,, sir.

Q How did you live?, A My sisters supported me,.

Q Your sister 'boarded you for nothing, is that the idea?

A Because I was sick,, yes, sir.
Q And is that why you were hot woricing? A Yes, air.
Q, You used te go out occasionally with the boys, or dl d you
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at night,, the way, you did on thia Saturday? A I didi't stay W tfl9

home all the time.

i . You went out once in a while with the hoys? A Tea, sir.
Q Once in a whle to a hall game? A No, sir.

C j
Q Never went to a ball game? A Not during thi a month.

, i

5T . Q Ball games were going on Just two blocks away from you
o

on Olympic Field, weren't, they? A I went there Airing the

summer, but not during this month."
"T

(I You did not spend a cent during that month? A I don't
'"

fsay that. . . 8

Q, what did you spend? A But iLeouldn't keep account of it.
V

Q, Abput how much? A I dich't hare much to spend.
lit'- -

Q Hbll, whatever little you had to spend where did you get

it from? A My sister.
r

Q Your sister gave you money? A Yes, sir.
ft?

Q How much did she give you? A Maybe a dollar or fifty
fir. cents.
mir Q And then that is all you had for spending money? A Yes,

sir. E"J
4

Q Never paid your board? A No, sir.
I

Q Wien did you last pay your board?, A I didn't pay rajr.

board since I stepped working.
4F

Did you pay your board while you were working? A Yes, sir.
Q What used you pay? A I used to pay for board and room too.

i

Q What did you ,pay your sister for that? A I used to
'

'

pay, her $2 for board. ' '
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How much, for the roo? A She used to let me sleep there '

and then she raised It to $3. 'fafllJS&

Pp- -
if m

51 l
Q Then you owed her $12 when arrested? A I didn't owe her

'nothing.
"a

Q You did not consider you owed her any money for the time
4

wH? you were out of work? Is that right? A No, sir. . !

Q , You didn't feel any obligation to pay hack any money she

might have spent on you, did you? A She told me not to.
"

Q She told you you could stay along and did not have to pay

a cent?. A As long as I was sick.
Q Tfere you sick at that time? A During this time, yes, sir.

,t Q You said nothing to your counsel about that when he was
6

examining you? A My counsel, yes, sir.
Q When he was examining you you did not say a word about

that? A I told him I waB sick during that month.

Q Is that why you quit working for the bicycle man? A Yes.

Q By the way, how did you happen to lose your job in

Convent Court? A The house was sold. The owner of the house
-

was Mr. Silverman, and it went into different people's hands,
EOJand so naturally the people had an objection to colored boys, so

h
they discharged all the colored boys.

Q That is the only reason? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you mean to say youcould no t get another Job as an

i

T elevator runner in an apartment house? A I went to Mr. Purbert
rt r for a position.

Q And he could not get you a place? A He didi't have none,

sJUt-- . in right away. ,. '
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i Hj.AnA ytt kept en going therfr Mar taatil yarn war rrt--

ted, locking for a Job &a an elevator runner? A I dlcfa't go

there during the month I was sick, no, sir. t

t
Q You are sure about that?. A Yea , sir.
Q Even though somebody from his office says that you, did

- era Vierifi during .Vi n . mnn.1i9,.. . ..A Thi1rir Vi a wnVi T. vraa alnV - i?? '-lla- Hai

a- - - o -- ..v ..-..- . -.-- ..tig, kuv uwu vu nu OJ.WA., 11W j CXI,, "inwjB

Q Well, you said you went there within the month before -

Hm -
your arrest? A Oh, the month before?

- .s ' -

Q Within' the month before your arrest? A I waB arrested
V.

eptember 6tfr,' ythat was six days after the 1st of September.
I

Q, And you had been there dthin a month before that, hadn't
you? A I was there during August.

4 J m

&.
Q During August you went to Furbert looking for a' job?

A On about the 1st of August.
P

Q Was that the only time? Didn't you' go there toward the

middle of August, looking for a Job? A The middle , of August?

Q Yes. A I went there once.

Q Didn't you go there in the end of August, looking for a

job? A No, sir.
-- r.'tf- " Q In the middle of August you were sick? AThe middle 55

of August I was sick, yes, sir.
Q ifow( could you workif yo u were sick? A I JuBt naturally

got." tired of staying arou d the house so I thought 1 would try

my .best to get o one thing to do.

ft Were you tired in the middle of August of doing nothing

whferiyou only stopped woikingwith the bicycle man at about that

time? A I didn't want to bo cut of work, no, sir.
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go to Purberts again and get. a Job? A I got too sick again
"mk ,"H

Q What was the matter with you? A Well, I had a strain from

the refoimato ry. My eyes were affected - I got so I could

hardly see.

ty Well, that thing that happened to you in the reformatory- -

was a long time ago, wasn't it?' A It was a long time ago,

but' it worked, and worked on me, '

Q, Is that why you could not run art elevator? Yes, air.
Q Do you mean to say you could not stand on your feet? A Not

mi-
that I could not Btand on my feet, but my eyes - you have to

run a switchboard when you run theelevator, and I couldn't

hardly see the letters.
Q, Didn't you hare that difficulty in the bicycle shop? A I

have it and then it go away again. 3

Q From where do yo u kno w Purbert? A Only know him from going

after jobs.

Q That is the only way you know him? A Yes.

Q When did you speak to Purbert about this case? A Never. TO
Q Wh'en you were arrested did you notify Purbert that you were

i

arrested? A Yes, sir.
iri

Q, Sure you did not? A Positive'
Q, Of course you knew something about that building, didn't

you? A No more than an employment office.
Q But you knew about the building? A I would go into theem--

ployraent office for Jobs, that's all I know. JSbIHb
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Q You knew it was a tenement house? A I knew It was a tene-

ment house.

Q Tou knew people lived in the various apartments there? .

A No, sir. :

Q You knew people did live there with their families?
A People generally live in houses.

Q Yes, you. knew that.much about the place? A Yes, air,
-

Q You were not unacquainted with he house? A I was un-

acquainted with the house but not with the office. iS

Q Did Fnrbert speak to you after your arrest? A No, sir.
Q Never saw you once? A No, sir,

,
Q, Did you communicate with Purbert in any way? A No, sir.
Q When -- you were arrested, who were the first persons that

8
you notified? A My sister.

Q, Vhen did you notify her, the same night? A I fried to get

her a letter but they would not take it from me.

Q; When did you finally notify her? A I was arrested on

Sunday morning and she received a. letter Monday night. ra
Q Did you then tell her all about yourself and have her

" 1'
see somebody? A No, sir, I told her I was arrested for a

false charge, something I know nothing about.

Q, v Vhen did your sister first tell you that Furbert knew

that, you were innocent? A Vhen did she first tell me that Furbert

knew I was innocent?

Q, Yqq.' A uy sister coma tttsre Tuesday and asked me what
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'
Q i di d you fi rat find out that Turbert knew o4thig

i

about this case? A When he-cam- e here A

Q Never knew.it "before? A No, sir.
Q Never knew that Myrtle Wilson could come and testify that

$
it 1"

you were not the. man? A- - No, sir.
. - .

Q Never knew that until to-d- ay or' until yesterday? A Yes-j-sir- ,

Q That is the first .time you found it out? A The first time

I found it out.

Q, You know Ella Green, pretty well,, don't you? A Yes, sir.
Q She wcuuld not give you a handkerchief if she did not know

you well? A No, sir, I should say not.

Q Is she your sweetheart? A She d. snot',, my sweetheart now,

no, sir.
Q, You mean only because you.were arrested? A In fact she

never has been a sweetheart, but she is a oase friend of my

sister's.
. Q And that is why she gave you this handkerchief? A Because

she liked my sister,, yes, sir.
Q She gave you the silk handkerchief because she liked

your sister? A She didn't give it to me, she gave it to my

sister to give to me.
M

Q Did you see Ella Gtafaen since you received the handker--

chief, from your sister.
Q, Never had an opportunity to thank her, di d you? A No, sir. .

4J
M Even though your, birthday was," August 4th? A Yes, sir.

Q Proa August 4th to September 6th, you did not see her?
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By--' m,' v you were a home-stayi- ng boy? A. Yes, sir,

Q. And, you used to visit your sister? A Oh, she visited
August 2nd. To my knowledge she had a position there since.

9, She knew you well enough to give you this handkerchief?

"A Yes, sir,
Q, Ib she here? A No, sir. ;

MR--
.

HEWITT: Defendant rests.

CASE CLOSED,- -

"' '

'

' '.
' '.''..' '' ' ' .'' : -- '

,
" '''' '

'

MR. HEWITT: I make the usual motions to dismiss

the indictment on the ground that the People have failed
$to make, out a case: and they have failed to connect this

defendant with the burglary that may have in fact been

committed; on the further ground that the evidence is
cl early in favor of the defendants

Motion denied. Exception.

Counsel how close to the jury; .

The Court now declares a recess tiil 2:05 p. m, , first
duly adtnoniphingvthevJury in accordance with law,

--Jrr-
. .f-"-

- $ ' ';..'
! AfterReoess. Trial Resumed.

v"

The Court now charges the jury as follows:
c

f-- ,

it
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CHARGE OF THE COURT, KULOJJEEN, J.

Gentlemen of the jury, this defendant has "been in-

dicted
TV t

--y3m
by the Grand Jury of the crime of burglary in thes

third degree. There ia also an allegation of grand
o

larceny in the second degree and criminally receiving
.

'

etolnmproperty. but I think it is better to submit the
"

case to the Jury solely on the burglary charge

TVio IniH nfmonf nlioirOTi V10 4 v Vi rtnninT n4 Tlour

York, on the 6th day of September of this year, 1913, in
--I.

the day time, with force and arms, a certain building, to
,,,

S

wit, the dwelling house of Jorie Henry Haummell, there situate, T- l-
i

,- - i

he feloniously and burglariously did break into' and emter

f with intent to commit some crime therein, to wit,' with

intent the goods chattels and personal property of the

said Henry Haummell, in the said dwelling house then and

there being, then and there feloniously and burglariously

to steal, take and carry awav, against the form of the

statute in such case made and provided, and against the

peaoe of the .people of the state of New York and their

dignity.
A

You understand, Gentlemen, that the indictment

is' intended merely to bring th e def en cant here before you
!

for .trial and to let.y'ou and him know what the charge is t--
1

. i
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He is hot to be convioted because he has been indicted '

You must aak yourself therefore, in the first place,, what

is the charge?

In ordinary language the charge is that' Henry Haum- -
;lmell lived in the county of New York, and on the 6th day of

' '

' ' ' ' ' "
'-

-'' ' '. -- . .
:

September, 1.913, this defendant, with force and arms, "broke
"''. ,'". '

fc.
,

'

into Haumme 11' s dwelling, with intent to commit q. crime
rc

therein; that is, with intent the goods, chattels arid

personal property of the said Henry Haummell in the

apartment to steal, take and carry away. '-':-
Km

i " :' - '
i 't '

Breaking and entering with criminal in t.ent are de- - y

fined in the statute very clearly, as follows: "One who '

breaks and enters. a dwelling or a room or an apartment,

with an intent to commit a crime therein, is guilty of

burglary in the third degree." It is a very simple law.

Those terms "breaking M and "entry" were used in the old

English law centuries ago, and they received definitions

which have been enacted into law in our. code. For instance,

"break" means not only to violently destroy or smash or Em
demolish, but also to open a door or a window.

The testimony i s that this. door, was locked in the

morning, and that there was' a Yale lock on the inside of

the door, screwed onto. the door; the door would --XcjS: when it
was drawn' to; that in the afternoon when the owner, Mr.

flgSE
t . :

.

. .

' . ;

c

Haummell, returned there were marks on the door, where the
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that if any one did that with intent to commit a orie '.
'r in the roo that is what is known as a burglarious breaking.

Then, if the person who broke the door in that way want into
1

"the apartment that would complete the crime,, if he intended

to commit a crime. It is no;t necessary to prove that he f. mShBt

actually stole
. ...

anything: it is the mere entry after break- - "v"IBr.,'... f

ing with felonious intent. The breaking and the entry, "j

2eF . .

with felonious intent. That is the charge made by the

People here. ,
fthu.3

im
4

This accusation is brought by the People' of the State

of New York t all the people living in this state, who-hav- e

'.'- - " "'

i ""..'
'

.

the right and the power and the duty to make laws to pro-

tect every member of society or the State in the enjoyment

of his life, liberty and property. It is the intention

of the law that a man may safely lock up. his apartment

and go ' away about his business, that his wife may lock it
up and go out shopping and the law will protect it, will

see that no one breaks and enters; or, will see that if
H5anyone does break and enter that that will be considered a

crime. .

There is a direct line of division between the power
' ' '

' '' ''' ' ""
-

. .."' ', : "': '.'.'.
of the Court and your power, It is the duty of the Court

to see that the def en dant .receives a fair trial. That

means a trial according to law. , Not a trial 'swayed by
'

'

., -
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him. At the close of the trial it is the duty of the Court

to instruct you in the law, and you take the law 'without
I v question. TJie law here is very simple, as you know.

As to the facts, the Court has not anything to do.
i

If there has been evidence introduced which' would' warrant

a finding of guilt, if you "believe the evidence, it is
the duty of the Court to submit it to you, and let you

pass on the facts,' and your judgment must be thefjee
tej- - 1

r expression of your opinion on- - the evidence, viewed in

the light .of the law.

The defendant is-- p resumed to be innocent. That is
another of our legal principles, the basic principle of

our criminal jurisprudence. Our trials are based on that

principle, that the defendant is not obliged to prove that

he is innocent. The People are obliged to prove that he

is guilty, and to do that they have produced here the

witnesses that you -- have heard for the People,

The defendant has a right to take the. stand as he did

here, and' to call witnesses; then you take the whole case

and weigh it as honest men seeking to find the truth, if
possible, from the evidence. Then you must .pass on the

i t

V credibility of witnesses. Facts are proved by witnesses,
v:

You decide the case solely on the evidence produoed here



BraW?$fe.fcF?r"i,J ffft
JT '

'7Jbefore, you, and .after you weigh the evidenae, with that de--

aire to find the truth,' you will pronounce then your opinion

of the evidence, and if that evidence satisfies you to a

moral certainty that the defendant did break and enter,

O with intent to commit a crime, then he is guilty. If the

evidence leaves you undecided, if the evidence merely cre-

ates the, Ah ought that he is possibly or probably guilty, .or
1 tB

the suspicion that he is guilty, that is not enough.
1

f,
X

You heard the People's evidence; you heard the

owner of the apartment, Mr. Haummell, testify as' to the

condition in which' he left this house and the condition in' "

which he found it when he returned at five o'clock in the

afternoon; you heard him testify as to the handkerchief,

that that was one of a? dozen that lie had had made in

Mexico of a special design and' that he knew it at onee.

He testified that other articles were missing, but he

bt- - could not identify any of the other" articles found on the
if --1-

defendant; he simply said that they looked like things he

had, but he, could! not swear that they were his articles.
As I told you, it was not necessary to prove that 55

the defendant stole anything, but if you are convinced

by the evidence that he had on his person when arrested,

within 'a short while after this burglary, any property
,

' '

which had been taken "from that apartment,, that would

raise a presumption of guilt. Beoent possession of stolen j
property is the strongest evidence of guilt. It raises
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The defendant denies that that handkerchief "belonged

to Mr. Haummell, and says it was given to him as a present.

Other people were brought here, .relatives or friends of

his, who say that it was given to him by some one who is
not produced here before you.

You know whether' the janitor, Mr. Cunningham, is
an. intelligent man-or.not-

. He was on the stand, and you
fUfr

know the manner in wh'lch he gave the testimony. He said he
" 1

r '

knew'the defendant, had seen him around the neighborhood

and saw himFind talked to him at that door; that the

defendant did not wish to let him, Cunningham, go into the
Kr

room, that the defendant said he was waiting there for

Mrs. Haummell, and that when the janitor insisted upon

going into the room this defendant ran away.

Tou heard the testimony of Mr. Waithe as to what

happened in that hall; he testified practically to the

same thing as Mr. Cunningham. Then Mr. Cunningham testified
to

v
ihe pursuit of . this defendant and that he did not get TO

the f en dant then. You heard the circumstances described
vi A

M . t
of his arreakijj'- - -- , I I

On the other hand, you have heard the witnesses

here who say that they wereV- -
downstairs and saw a man run

,jout some said in his shirtsleeves, and some, I believe,

said with a coat, and that this defendant was not the man;

,.



HpppmiQ --..' s- - c w , i1 w uj im inwMi um i. amn jjijij wvmwwhw awagjM smwik1"wmimL t

IHHRRtSwK" swVS: .
ffflpfy tiV- -f . T '""tn' 4,Vt 't??'' s-u.fe- -8!:'-:F-

'fel $?isc89BB wl
ra til at It was a different lookin oolored man altoethr

lou heard also the defendant's ntntftwmnt m to hi iham $j W MM l
Hf

Brsr
abouta at that time?

The defendant's testimony is practically an alibi.
Alibi is a word meaning "elsewhere w. If it were to be

said to-mor- row that one of you twelve gentlemen oommitted

a crime in Harlem at , twenty-fiv- e minutes after two o'clock

you could easily say that you were here at that hour and

that would be a complete answer to it, and you could not

possibly have committed the crime. In deciding whether

the alibi raises a reasonable doubt in your -- mind as to his

presence in this flat, you have to consider the interests
'

of the people who testified; the motive, if any, which they

might have had for giving false testimony; their relation-

ship to this defendant. Scrutinize carefully all the tes-

timony. It is also important that the alibi should cover

e.very'p" article of the time during which the crime might

have been committed because if it would be still possi-

ble
Em

to commit the crime and bel.ieve all the testimony for

the alibi that defense would fall. So that you have to

weigh all the testimony very carefully; consider the,

motive of the people that testified, the interest, if any,

they have in the controversy, their manner on the stand,

their intelligence, their character so far as revealed i7U

by cross examination, and decide how much credence you fl5
!

will give to each of them. That is a very important duty

mats siilffgiLj;



paas on the credibility of witnesses by whose testimony

the facts are established. .After you have found the facts
here, then the question for you to decide is whether those

facts satisfy yo u that the' defendant "broke and entered

that apartment.

You remember Mr. Cunningham's testimony that the

door was not only broken but that this defendant was coming

from therooEt, that he had the bindle on his hand and then

when he saw Cunningham he stepped back into the room and

dropped the' bundle back of the door and came out. If you

believe that testimony there was an entry. If you believe

that that handkerchief belonged to Mr. .Haummell that would i

f

be proof that it was taken from the apartment and that
there was an entry.

You have, therefore, testimony ao to the breaking,

end as to theentry and as to the taking of certain property

from the room. You have the testimony of the defendant's

witnesses as to his whereabouts on that day, and the testi-mon- y

of some of them that they saw a man running away and EOJ
that this defendant was hoi" the man. You have to say

$
i

whether the witnesses w"ere telling the truth, or whether thqy
(are hone.stly mistaken, or whether they deliberately gave

false testimony. Weigh all the testimony calmly and
,

1

quietly and pronounce your verdict, either af guilty or not 1

I

guilty . .

4
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that in order to convict this defan dant they must believe, --' . - -

.'all of them and each of them, beyond a reasonable cbubtnot

only that a crime was in fact committed but that this'
'--

''

,
'

". --

'
"

-- '"defendant was the. man who did it.
THE "COURT: I bo charge.

MR. HEWITT: And I call your Honor's" attention to
. . ''..your charge in which you say that they may take into aon- -

sideration the motive of the 'defendant s witnesses.
-

'
.

THE COURT: Of all', the witnesses. I did not say
-- j'i

y only the defendant1 s witnesses, but I say all the witnesses--th- e

motive, if any, fthich any witness had for testifying

falsely. ' :
"-- .".''..

MR. HEWITT: And" I ask your Honor to charge that

that applies, also to the motive of the complaining witness.
'. ,

THE COURT: All the witnesses. There is no rule,

laid do vn for your guidance in testing the credibility of

witnesses.. You have to use the same good sense and the

same- - good judgment that you would use in your ordinary

affairs of life, in your ordinary business. You are ra
business men, you have to decide problems in your business

and you do not believe all that you hear said. Now, then,
, . - , ' ' "

"
. .

V ..'.- -

' - ..' - ,.;

use your own, good judgment in deciding what is false and

rejecting it, and taking what is true end clinging to 1 1.

One of the tests which you ajply in qommtfn experience to

teat the truth of any statement is whether the person who
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Makes the statement has a motive to make it; . does he sees! "tHBI

IB
revenge or advancement, or is he seeking to avoid the con-

sequences of some act? You may consider whether the
complainant her.e is animated by any motive of hatred or

revenge, boes the testimony disclose that? Whether Mr.

Cunningham has any motive for picking this colored man out

of all the colored men in New York and charging him with

the crime? Whether Mr. Waithe has any motive? Or whether

the defendant's sister has any motive to save him, or

these other people he has called here? Whether the de--

fendant is telling the truth, or whether the fear of pun-

ishment is a motive strong enough to make him tell you

what is not true? Those are all considerations that you

may apply in testing or weighing the testimony of every

witness that appeared on either side; and you must do

that without prejudice, without passion. The law says that

the proof must satisfy you beyond a reasonable doubt. That

means the doubt that a reasonable man could entertain,

that an honest man could entertain after listening to all

the evidence and all the circumstances of the case? It
is no t a doubt that is based on prejudice or sympathy or a

desire to avoid doing your duty, but it is the state of an

honest juror's mind - a man who has made up his mind to

do. his full duty. If he weighs the testimony and says "I

am unable to say that I am firmly convinced to amoral

certainty by this evidence that the defendant is guilty,
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.then1 :i'L that Ban 1b In a state of reasonable doubt wid it la
the duty of such a Juror to vote not guilty If his mind H ifl0(

if firmly convinced as a reasonable, honest men, to a
.

moral certainty, that the defendant is guilty, it is like- -

wise his duty to proclaim it by a verdict of 'jguilty.
Are there any requests?

T 9 "

I

(Ho requests.)

. mi
The jury now retire to deliberate upon a verdict, and

upon their return render a verdict finding the defendant '

guilty of the crime of burglary in the third degree.

MR. HEWITT: I move to set asidel the verdict on the

ground that it is contrary to the evidence and 'the law,

and on all the other grounds mentioned in the code

Motion ddnied. Exception,

MR. HEWITT: And I now move for a new trial upon the
f '

same grounds; your Honor.

Motion denied. Exception.

THE COURT: I will remand the defendant for sentence ftita H

to November 6th, and on that date you may make such other

motions as you wish.

(Defendant remanded for sentence to November 6th, 1913.)

Stewart Liddell, JmOfficial Stenographer.
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